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Private Equity Holding AG offers institutional and 
private investors the opportunity to invest in a 
broadly diversified private equity portfolio.

The objective of Private Equity Holding AG is to 
generate long term capital growth for its share-
holders.

The Private Equity Holding Group is managed by 
Alpha Associates.

Alpha Associates is an independent private  
equity fund-of-funds manager and advisor, build-
ing and managing globally diversified private  
equity fund portfolios for institutional and private 
clients.
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Key Figures

Share Value

 
31.03.15

EUR
31.03.14

EUR
Change

in %1
31.03.15

CHF
31.03.14

CHF
Change

in %1

Net asset value per share, based on fair values 72.40 65.91 9.8% 75.56 80.29 (5.9%)

Price per share (PEHN.S) 58.93 48.02 22.7% 61.50 58.50 5.1% 
1 Excl. distributions.

Comprehensive Income Statement

 

01.04.14- 
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

01.04.13- 
31.03.14

EUR 1,000
Change

in %

Profit/(loss) for the period 22,936 20,163 14%

Total comprehensive income for the period 22,936 20,163 14% 
Balance Sheet

 
31.03.15

EUR 1,000
31.03.14

EUR 1,000
Change

in %

Net current assets 6,054 16,426 (63%)

Total non-current assets 210,429 194,164 8%

Non-current liabilities — — n/a

Total equity 216,483 210,590 3% 
Asset Allocation

 

Fair Value 
31.03.15

EUR million

Unfunded
Commitments

31.03.15
EUR million 

Total  
Exposure2

31.03.15
EUR million

Total  
Exposure2

31.03.15
in %

Buyout funds 114.8 31.6 146.4 51%

Venture funds 38.1 14.3 52.4 18%

Special situation funds 27.6 27.6 55.2 20%

Total fund investments 180.5 73.5 254.0 89%

Direct investments and loans 29.9 1.4 31.3 11%

Total direct investments and loans 29.9 1.4 31.3 11%

Total funds, direct investments and loans 210.4 74.9 285.3 100% 
2 Fair value plus unfunded commitments.

    

 31.03.15 31.03.14
Change

in %

Unfunded commitments (EUR million) 74.9 33.3 125%

Overcommitment3 33% 9% 264%

Net current assets / unfunded commitments 8% 49% (84%) 
3 Overcommitment = (unfunded commitments - net current assets) / (non-current assets - non-current liabilities). 
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Development of Net Asset Value and Share Price

Relative Performance of PEHN

01.01.2007 – 31.03.2015 (in EUR, incl. distributions)

Share Price and NAV per Share

01.01.2007 – 31.03.2015 (in EUR, incl. distributions)

NAV 01.01.07 - 31.03.15 
(in EUR, incl. distributions):	 99.0%

NAV 01.01.07 - 31.03.15 
(in CHF, incl. distributions):	 31.5%

Share Price 01.01.07 - 31.03.15 
(in EUR, incl. distributions):	 159.3%

Share Price 01.01.07 - 31.03.15 
(in CHF, incl. distributions):	 72.0%

Discount to NAV as of 31.03.15:	 -18.6%

Outperformance PEHN 
vs. LPX-50 PE-Index:		  119.5%

Outperformance PEHN 
vs. MSCI World:		  95.8%
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Dear Shareholders

Private Equity Holding AG (PEH) reports a comprehensive income of EUR 22.9 million for the financial 
year 2014/15. As of March 31, 2015, the net asset value per share (NAV) stood at EUR 72.40 (CHF 75.56), 
representing an increase of 13.0% (incl. distribution) in EUR over the course of the financial year. PEH’s 
net asset value increased in 9 out of 12 months – bringing the overall NAV growth since January 2007 
to 99%.

PEH’s portfolio performed strongly throughout the year; apart from the NAV gain, the portfolio was 
cash flow positive by EUR 12.8 million (EUR 28.4 million funded versus EUR 41.2 million received in dis-
tributions). Including the distribution of CHF 2.50 in July 2014, the share price increased by 9.4% over 
the financial year,  despite the quite significant (negative) impact of Swiss National Bank’s decision to 
end the Swiss franc’s floor of 1.20 to the EUR. The discount narrowed from 27.1% (March 31, 2014) to 
18.6% (March 31, 2015).

PEH completed 9 new investments in the financial year, of which one direct co-investment into Flos, 
the well-known Italian lighting company. This marks an increased pace of investment compared to the 
prior year, in which two fund commitments and two direct co-investments were completed. 

Several of the fund investments are characterised by PEH investing in successor funds of managers 
with whom we have a longstanding, successful investment relationship as for example ABRY Part-
ners. In other instances, new investment partners were selected which are not only expected to de-
liver superior investment returns, but also help diversifying the portfolio in geographic, industrial and 
strategic dimensions.   

We feel comfortable with the somewhat increased over-commitment, which ensures that the fund 
exposure is maintained in a diversified way while new co-investments provide the opportunity for 
outperformance. Since the end of March 2015, PEH has completed one further fund commitment and 
is in the process of closing another direct co-investment.

The performance of PEH allows for significant capital being distributed to investors; having made dis-
tributions for the last five years (at a level of ca. 4% of the share price at the time of the distributions), 
and having increased the payment by CHF 0.25 per share twice most recently, the Board of Directors 
proposes another increase of CHF 0.25 per share for a total amount of CHF 2.75 to be distributed per 
share. At the time of writing, this represents a dividend yield of more than 4.5%. Further details can be 
found in the invitation to the AGM, which is dispatched to shareholders and published today.

We are convinced we are building PEH for a strong future and thank you for your continued support.

Dr. Hans Baumgartner

Chairman of the Board of Directors

June 12, 2015

Chairman’s Letter for the Financial Year 2014/2015

Increased 
investment 

activity

AGM proposals 
include distribu-

tion of CHF 2.75 
per share
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Portfolio Report for the Financial Year 2014/2015
The Year in Review

Private Equity Holding AG reports a total comprehensive 
income of EUR 22.9 million for the financial year 2014/2015.

As of March 31, 2015, the net asset value per share stood at 
EUR 72.40. This represents an increase of EUR 6.49 or 9.8% 
compared to March 31, 2014 (excl. distributions).

As of March 31, 2015, total long-term assets amount to 
EUR 210.4 million (March 31, 2014: EUR 194.2 million). The 
increase since March 31, 2014 amounts to EUR 16.2 million 
and results from capital calls of EUR 28.4 million, distribu-
tions of EUR 41.2 million and positive valuation adjustments 
of EUR 29.0 million. 

The Group’s net current assets decreased from EUR 16.4 mil-
lion to EUR 6.1 million since the beginning of the financial 
year 2014/2015 mainly due to the repurchase of own shares 
and the repayment of paid-in capital to shareholders.

Fund Investments

As of March 31, 2015, the fair value of the fund portfolio 
stood at EUR 180.5 million (March 31, 2014: EUR 168.1 mil-
lion). The change results from capital calls of EUR 22.0 mil-
lion, distributions of EUR 35.6 million and positive valuation 
adjustments of EUR 26.0 million.

Noteworthy portfolio events in the fourth quarter* of the fi-
nancial year 2014/2015 included the following:

PEH made a new EUR 5.0 million commitment to an 
undislcosed growth fund. Following the quarter end, PEH 
further committed USD 5.0 million to Pelion VI, a US-focused 
venture fund investing in software-based enterprise and 
network technologies. 

ABRY Senior Equity IV distributed proceeds received from 
the successful sale of its position in PSI Services, LLC, a 
provider of professional testing and evaluation services. The 
fund called capital to pay expenses and to invest in Accela 
Inc., one of the largest software companies exclusively fo-
cused on the state and local government market, providing 
land management, asset management, financial and civic 
engagement software.

ALPHA Russia & CIS Secondary distributed proceeds re-
ceived from Secondary Portfolio III and Quadriga Capital 
Russia Private Equity Fund II.

Avista Capital Partners II distributed proceeds received from 
the return of capital from oil and natural gas company Royal 
Offshore and proceeds generated from the sale of a portion 
of sand producer Hi-Crush Partners LP. The fund called capi-
tal to fund contribution towards its existing commitment to 
Laredo V and Laredo VI, as well as to fund fourth quarter 
2014 and first quarter 2015 management fees.

Bridgepoint Europe IV distributed proceeds from the sale 
of its largest commitment, Infront Sports and Media, the 
world’s second largest sports rights agency. 

Allocation by Investment Category1

Allocation by Geography2

Allocation by Industry2

1 	 Based on fair values plus unfunded commitments (basis: non-current 
	 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss).
2 	 Based on fair values of the underlying companies (basis: non-current 
 	 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss).

*	 For portfolio events in the first three quarters of the financial year 
 	 2014/2015 please refer to the respective quarterly reports which can 
 	 be downloaded from the Company’s website (www.peh.ch).
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DB Secondary Opportunities Fund C distributed proceeds 
received from its underlying funds.

Europe Capital Partners IV distributed proceeds from the 
reimbursement of a vendor loan to waste management com-
pany Geotea.

Francisco Partners distributed proceeds from the sale of its 
positions in software solutions provider FrontRange Holding 
Inc. and Barracuda Networks, Inc., a provider of IT security 
solutions.

Highland Europe I called capital to invest in Jampp, a data-
driven mobile app marketing platform and for follow on invest-
ments in online fashion retailer Outfittery and MatchesFashion 
as well as in social media monitoring company Brandwatch.

Institutional Venture Partners XI distributed shares from its 
investment in Inphi Corporation, a leading provider of high-
speed, mixed signal semiconductor solutions.

Institutional Venture Partners XII distributed shares from its 
investment in Twitter, Inc., the market leading online social 
networking service. 

Kennet III distributed proceeds from the realisation of 
Schoolwires, an educational website, hosting and content 
management provider.

Mid Europa Fund IV called capital to fund the acquisition of 
Danube Foods Group, the leading branded FMCG platform in 
the former Yugoslavia. 

OCM European Principal Opportunities Fund II distributed pro-
ceeds received from the sale of Evac Group, a global market 
leader in integrated water and waste management solutions.

Warburg Pincus Private Equity X distributed proceeds re-
ceived from the sale of various underlying companies, inlud-
ing single-price discount retailer Poundland.

Wasserstein Partners III distributed proceeds from the re-
alisation of its investment in High Pressure Equipment Com-
pany, a leading manufacturer of valves, fittings, tubing and 
accessories for high pressure applications.

WL Ross Recovery Fund IV distributed proceeds received 
from UK bank Virgin Money and various underlying invest-
ments.

Direct Investments

As of March 31, 2015, the fair value of the direct portfo-
lio (incl. loans) stood at EUR 29.9 million (March 31, 2014:  
EUR 26.1 million). The change results from capital calls of 
EUR 6.4 million, distributions of EUR 5.6 million and positive 
valuation adjustments of EUR 3.0 million.

During the quarter portfolio company CyDex, Inc. distributed 
proceeds received under a revenue sharing agreement with 
Ligand Pharmaceuticals Inc. 

PEH invested EUR 4.0 million in leading Italian high-end 
lighting brand Flos as part of a co-investment with Investin-
dustrial. Following the quarter end, PEH agreed a follow-on 
investment in Aston Martin in the amount of EUR 1.7 million.

Fair Value of the Portfolio by Vintage Year

Unfunded Commitment of the Portfolio by Vintage Year

10 Largest Exposures by Fair Value

10 Largest Exposures by Unfunded Commitment
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Largest Exposures

The ten largest investments by fair value  
Together they account for 44.6% of the total fair value of the investment portfolio of the Private Equity Holding Group.

 ALPHA CEE II
Alpha CEE II is the second diversified private equity fund for Central and Eastern 
Europe managed by Alpha Associates, the leading private equity fund-of-funds 
manager for Central and Eastern Europe and Russia/CIS with more than 15 years 
of investment experience in the region. The fund makes primary commitments 
to top tier private equity funds in the region with a focus on the new EU member 
countries, purchases mature fund interests on the secondary market and makes 
selective direct co-investments. The stage focus is on conservatively leveraged 
small and mid-market buyouts as well as expansion financing, primarily of 
businesses in the consumer-oriented sectors. The fund is fully drawn and 
as of December 31, 2014, the portfolio consists of 12 primary commitments, 8 
secondary positions and 9 direct co-investments.

 

Type Early-stage Venture

Industries: Healthcare

Region: USA

Fair Value: EUR 12.3 million 
5.9% of PEH Portfolio

Enanta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Enanta Pharmaceuticals is a research and development-focused biotechnology 
company that uses its robust chemistry-driven approach and drug discovery ca-
pabilities to create small molecule drugs for viral infections and liver diseases. 
Enanta is discovering, and in some cases developing, novel inhibitors designed 
for use against the hepatitis C virus (HCV). These inhibitors include members of 
the direct acting antiviral (DAA) inhibitor classes – protease (partnered with Ab-
bVie), NS5A, and nucleotide polymerase – as well as a host-targeted antiviral 
(HTA) inhibitor class targeted against cyclophilin. Enanta’s lead protease inhibitor, 
paritaprevir, is part of AbbVie’s recently approved HCV treatment regimen.

Avista Capital Partners II
Avista Capital Partners was formed in 2005 by the spin-out of the core team 
from DLJ Merchant Banking Partners. The investment team of more than 20 
investment professionals operates out of New York, Houston and London. 
The fund makes controlling or influential minority buyout investments in 
US companies in the energy, healthcare and media sectors. Its focus is on 
companies with enterprise values between USD 150m and USD 2b, investing 
equity between USD 50m and USD 300m. The fund is fully invested in 13 portfolio 
companies.

 Alpha Russia & CIS Secondary
ALPHA Russia & CIS Secondary L.P. is managed by Alpha Associates and 
focuses on the acquisition of mature private equity fund interests in the 
secondary market in Russia, Central Europe and Turkey. The fund aims to 
capitalise on the attractive opportunities post crisis to purchase high quality 
private equity assets at attractive discounts to net asset value from investors in 
distress or that are restructuring their portfolios. The fund also makes selective 
primary commitments to leading funds in the region as well as direct co-
investments. As of December 31, 2014, the portfolio consists of 18 secondary 
positions, 3 primary commitments and 5 direct co-investments.

 Warburg Pincus Private Equity X
Warburg Pincus was founded in 1966 and is one of the most established 
private equity firms in the world. Warburg Pincus has more than 160 investment 
professionals with headquarters in New York and further offices around the 
globe. Warburg Pincus Private Equity X focuses on growth investments. 
The activity includes conceiving and creating venture capital opportunities, 
providing expansion capital, and investing in leveraged buyouts. The fund is 
fully invested in 69 remaining portfolio companies.

Fund Size: USD 1.8 billion

Type: Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: USA & Canada

Fair Value: EUR 11.6 million 
5.5% of PEH Portfolio

Fund Size: EUR 309 million

Type: Buyout & Expansion

Industries: Diverse

Region: Central & Eastern Europe

Fair Value: EUR 12.6 million 
6.0% of PEH Portfolio

Fund Size: USD 107 million

Type: Secondary

Industries: Diverse

Region: Russia & CIS

Fair Value: EUR 10.8 million 
5.1% of PEH Portfolio

Fund Size: USD 16 billion

Type Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: Global

Fair Value: EUR 10.2 million 
4.8% of PEH Portfolio
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 Industri Kapital 2007 Fund
The fund is managed by IK Investment Partners, formerly known as Industri 
Kapital, a European private equity firm with Nordic roots managing EUR 5.7b 
in fund commitments. The firm has 5 dedicated investment teams covering 
the Benelux countries, Denmark/Norway, France, Germany/CEE and Sweden/
Finland working out of offices in Hamburg, London, Paris and Stockholm. This is 
the group’s sixth fund, pursuing control buyouts in enterprises valued between 
EUR 100m and EUR 500m. The fund is fully invested in 7 portfolio companies.

Bridgepoint Europe IV
Bridgepoint is one of the leading pan-European mid-market buyout fund 
manager with a team of over 80 investment professionals and over 20 partners. 
It was founded in 1984 as part of the UK commercial bank NatWest and has 
been independent since 2000. The fund makes European buyout investments 
at the upper end of the mid-market. The focus is on controlling positions in 
enterprises valued between EUR 200m and EUR 1b. The fund is 88% drawn and 
invested in 21 remaining portfolio companies. 

 ABRY Partners VII
ABRY is one of the most experienced investment firms in North America focusing 
on media, communications as well as business and information services. 
Founded in 1989, ABRY Partners has invested over USD 42b in high quality 
companies and partnered with management to help build their businesses. This 
includes leveraged transactions and other private equity, mezzanine or preferred 
equity placements, representing investments in more than 450 properties. ABRY 
Partners VII focuses primarily on companies with enterprise value of between 
USD 150m and USD 250m, investing equity of between USD 25m and USD 150m. 
The fund is 95% drawn and invested in 15 portfolio companies. 

Capvis Equity III
Capvis is the most established mid-market buyout manager based in 
Switzerland, targeting investments in German-speaking Europe. Its roots go 
back to Swiss Bank Corporation’s Equity Banking Division. The investment team 
includes 8 partners and 10 investment professionals based in the Swiss city of 
Baar. This is the team’s third independent fund making control investments in 
medium sized companies, often as part of succession solutions or corporate 
spin-offs. The fund is fully invested in 8 remaining portfolio companies.

 Doughty Hanson & Co III
Doughty Hanson is one of Europe’s largest independent private equity firms with 
a 25 year track record of buying and growing market-leading businesses across 
Europe. The team consists of more than 50 investment professionals, located 
in offices in London, Frankfurt, Madrid, Milan, Munich, Paris and Stockholm. 
The fund is fully drawn and there is one company remaining in the portfolio: 
LM Wind Power, a world leading wind-turbine components manufacturer and 
servicing company. The company employs a highly skilled workforce of 4’500 
people in 13 blade factories around the world.  Almost 25% of the installed wind 
turbines in the world have LM Wind Power blades.

Fund Size: EUR 1.7 billion

Type Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: Europe

Fair Value: EUR 7.7 million 
3.6% of PEH Portfolio

Fund Size: EUR 4.8 billion

Type Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: Europe

Fair Value: EUR 7.7 million 
3.6% of PEH Portfolio

Fund Size: USD 1.6 billion

Type Special Situations

Industries: Media

Region: USA & Canada

Fair Value: EUR 7.2 million 
3.4% of PEH Portfolio

Fund Size: USD 600 million

Type Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: Europe

Fair Value: EUR 7.2 million 
3.4% of PEH Portfolio

Fund Size: EUR 2.7 billion

Type Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: Europe

Fair Value: EUR 7.0 million 
3.3% of PEH Portfolio
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The ten largest fund investments by unfunded commitment  
Together they account for 77.3%* of the total unfunded commitments of the Private Equity Holding Group.

Fund Size: USD 1.9 billion

Type: Special Situations

Industries: Media

Region: USA

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 8.7 million  
11.7% of total unfunded

ABRY Partners VIII
ABRY is one of the most experienced investment firms in North America focusing 
on media, communications as well as business and information services. 
Founded in 1989, ABRY Partners has invested over USD 42b in high quality 
companies and partnered with management to help build their businesses. This 
includes leveraged transactions and other private equity, mezzanine or preferred 
equity placements, representing investments in more than 450 properties. ABRY 
Partners VIII makes control investments in mid-market companies in the media, 
communication, business and information services sector predominantly in 
the US. Its focus is on equity investments between USD 40m and USD 175m in 
companies with enterprise values between USD 100m and USD 500m.

Sycamore II
Sycamore Partners is a private equity firm founded in 2011 by a team of former 
executives at Golden Capital, a private equity firm in San Francisco. The firm 
is now based in New York. Sycamore III focuses on buyout and turnaround 
investments in mid-market businesses across the consumer and retail sectors 
located in the US. Its focus is on equity investments between USD 50m and  
USD 500m in companies with enterprise values between USD 200m and USD 2b. 
The fund has made 1 investment to date and is 7% drawn.

 

Fund Size: USD 2.5 billion

Type: Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: Eastern Europe

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 8.6 million  
11.4% of total unfunded

Mid Europa Fund IV
Mid Europa Partners is a leading buyout investor focused on the growth markets 
of Central and Eastern Europe and Turkey with over EUR 4.2 billion of funds 
raised and managed since inception. Mid Europa Fund IV makes controlling 
or influential investments between EUR 25m and EUR 200m in companies with 
enterprise values between EUR 200m and EUR 1b. The fund will focus on the 
following sectors: basic industries, cable TV, fixed-line telephony, general 
manufacturing, mobile telephony/wireless, oil & gas, and rail. The fund is 14% 
drawn.

Fund Size: USD 375 million

Type: Venture

Industries: Health Care

Region: USA & Canada

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 6.0 million  
8.0% of total unfunded

Clarus Lifesciences III
Clarus Ventures is a life sciences venture capital firm established in 2005. The 
firm is headquartered in Cambridge and has a second office in San Francisco. 
The fund manager is composed of a 12 person investment team, whereof 
the senior partners all have at least 20 years of industrial experience. Clarus 
Lifesciences III is the team’s third fund and focuses on investments in early, 
mid and late stage biotechnology and medical device companies across the 
US with target amounts of USD 20m to USD 30m per company. The fund is 14% 
drawn and invested in 4 portfolio companies.

ABRY Advanced Securities Fund III
ABRY is one of the most experienced investment firms in North America 
focusing on media, communications as well as business and information 
services. Founded in 1989, ABRY Partners has invested over USD 42b in 
high quality companies and partnered with management to help build their 
businesses. This includes leveraged transactions and other private equity, 
mezzanine or preferred equity placements, representing investments in more 
than 450 properties. ABRY Advanced Securities Fund III will acquire more 
than 150 performing, senior debt securities in the North American media, 
communication, business and information services sector of non-investment 
grade companies through total return swap-structures, investing USD 10m to 
USD 100m per position.

Fund Size: USD 2.5 billion

Type Special Situations

Industries: Consumer

Region: USA & Canada

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 8.7 million 
11.6% of total unfunded

Fund Size: USD 1.6 billion

Type Special Situations

Industries: Media

Region: USA & Canada

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 6.0 million 
8.0% of total unfunded
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 ABRY Advanced Securities Fund
ABRY is one of the most experienced investment firms in North America 
focusing on media, communications as well as business and information 
services. Founded in 1989, ABRY Partners has invested over USD 42b in 
high quality companies and partnered with management to help build their 
businesses. This includes leveraged transactions and other private equity, 
mezzanine or preferred equity placements, representing investments in more 
than 450 properties. ABRY Advanced Securities Fund focuses on debt fund 
investing in senior bank debt securities issued by high quality, non-investment 
grade media companies using a swap structure.

Wasserstein Partners III
Wasserstein & Co. is a US mid-market buyout fund manager and has executed 
more than 60 platform and add-on transactions. The Senior Partners were 
formerly Partners at Wasserstein Perella and have worked together for nearly 
20 years. The fund targets US mid-market buyout investments in the Media 
and Communications, Consumer Products, Water Equipment and Services 
sectors. The fund is 50% drawn with the portfolio consisting of 5 investments.

Investindustrial V
Investindustrial is a leading independent mid-market firm focused on taking 
control positions in industrially driven management buyouts and leveraged 
build-ups principally in Italy and the Iberian Peninsula. The fund makes 
control investments in mid-market companies based in Italy and Spain. Its 
focus is on equity investments between EUR 50m and EUR 200m in companies 
with enterprise values between EUR 100m and EUR 500m. The fund is 44% 
drawn invested in 3 portfolio companies.

ABRY Senior Equity IV
ABRY is one of the most experienced investment firms in North America 
focusing on media, communications as well as business and information 
services. Founded in 1989, ABRY Partners has invested over USD 42b in 
high quality companies and partnered with management to help build their 
businesses. This includes leveraged transactions and other private equity, 
mezzanine or preferred equity placements, representing investments in more 
than 450 properties. ABRY Senior Equity Fund IV invests in preferred equity 
and mezzanine securities in North American media companies. The fund is 
46% drawn with the portfolio consisting of 10 investments.

	 * �The list only includes 9 funds because of the EUR 5.0 million commitment in an undisclosed growth fund, which cannot be described in the list 
above due to a non-disclosure agreement.  

	 ** �ABRY Advanced Securities Fund’s portfolio is in realisation. It is unlikely that more than an insignificant portion of the unfunded commitment 
of EUR 5.0 million will be called.

Fund Size: USD 699 million

Type Special Situations

Industries: Diverse

Region: USA

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 5.0 million ** 
6.7% of total unfunded

Fund Size: USD 403 million

Type Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: USA

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 4.7 million 
6.3% of total unfunded

Fund Size: EUR 1.3 billion

Type Buyout

Industries: Diverse

Region: Western Europe

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 2.8 million 
3.7% of total unfunded

Fund Size: USD 978 million

Type Special Situations

Industries: Media

Region: USA

Unfunded 
Commitment:

EUR 2.5 million 
3.2% of total unfunded
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Selected Direct Investments 

Investment Size: USD 3.0 million

Date: 2013

Type: Direct Investment

Industry: Pharmaceuticals

Region: Europe

Acino
Acino is a Swiss-based pharmaceutical company that develops, manu-
factures and internationally markets well-proven and innovative phar-
maceuticals in novel drug delivery forms. As a partner of pharmaceuti-
cal companies worldwide, Acino supplies finished in-house developed 
products and/or provides customised one-stop solutions from product devel-
opment and registration to contract manufacturing, packaging and logistics.  
 
Acino was delisted from the Swiss stock exchange on September 17, 2014 
following the successful completion of a public tender offer by Avista Capital 
Partners and Nordic Capital. Private Equity Holding invested USD 3.0 million in 
Acino in Q4 2013 as part of a co-investment with Avista.

 

Investment Size: EUR 3.0 million

Date: 2013

Type: Direct Investment

Industry: Industrials

Region: Europe

Aston Martin
Established in 1913 and headquartered in Gaydon (UK), Aston designs, manu-
factures and distributes luxury performance motor cars. Aston is one of the 
most exclusive sports car brands in the world and the only independent luxury 
brand in its industry. Its iconic status and global footprint has been built through 
its performance and elegant design, successfully marketed by featuring as 
James Bond’s car in many 007 movies over the past 50 years. 

Private Equity Holding invested EUR 3.0 million in Aston Martin as part of a co-
investment with Investindustrial in Q2 2013. In April 2015 Private Equity Holding 
commited a further EUR 1.7 million.

Investment Size: EUR 4.0 million

Date: 2015

Type: Direct Investment

Industry: Consumer

Region: Europe

Flos
Flos is the leading Italian high-end lighting brand, known globally for its iconic 
design and technological innovation, both in the decorative and architectural 
segments. Since its foundation in 1962, Flos products have been recognised 
with a number of design awards and are collection items for leading museums 
such as the MoMA in New York, the Victoria & Albert Museum in London and 
Le Centre Pompidou in Paris.

Private Equity Holding invested EUR 4.0 million in Flos as part of a co-investment 
with Investindustrial in Q1 2015.
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Investment Size: EUR 4.4 million

Date: 2010

Type: Direct Investment

Industry: Software

Region: Europe

Actano
Actano is Germany’s most successful provider of solutions for transparency 
and efficiency during product development. The company is developing and 
selling a collaborative program and project management software specialised 
for large companies, with multiple locations and several hundred users working 
on complex integrated projects. The software is built on the latest technology 
and usable for the intra- or internet, allowing for special application hosting 
services. For implementation of the software package the respective IT and 
consulting services are offered. The software manages product development 
processes in the automobile, aerospace and chemical/pharmaceutical indus-
tries.  

Private Equity Holding has invested and supported Actano through its develop-
ment stage since 2010. 

Investment Size: USD 1.9 million

Date: 2006

Type: Direct Investment

Industry: Healthcare

Region: USA

Neurotech
Based in Cumberland, Rhode Island. Neurotech is a biotechnology company 
that focuses on the development of transformative therapies for chronic eye 
diseases. Neurotech’s patented core technology platform, Encapsulated Cell 
Therapy (ECT), is a first-in-class, novel, versatile drug delivery platform in de-
velopment for the treatment of a broad array of eye diseases. ECT is a geneti-
cally engineered ocular implant that enables continuous production of thera-
peutic proteins to the eye for at least 2 years. The company is exploring several 
candidates for the ECT platform. These include a lead product for the treatment 
of wet AMD (NT-503), combination therapies for wet AMD (NT-506), as well as 
treatments for retinal degenerations and glaucoma.

Private Equity Holding has invested USD 1.9 million in Neurotech since Q4 2006.

Investment Size: USD 7.3 million

Date: 1998

Type: Direct Investment

Industry: Pharmaceuticals

Region: USA

Enanta
Enanta Pharmaceuticals is a research and development-focused biotechnol-
ogy company that uses its robust chemistry-driven approach and drug discov-
ery capabilities to create small molecule drugs for viral infections and liver 
diseases. Enanta is discovering, and in some cases developing, novel inhibi-
tors designed for use against the hepatitis C virus (HCV). These inhibitors in-
clude members of the direct acting antiviral (DAA) inhibitor classes – protease 
(partnered with AbbVie), NS5A, and nucleotide polymerase – as well as a host-
targeted antiviral (HTA) inhibitor class targeted against cyclophilin. Enanta’s 
lead protease inhibitor, paritaprevir, is part of AbbVie’s recently approved HCV 
treatment regimen.

Private Equity Holding invested USD 7.3 million in Enanta between 1998 and 
2013. As of March 31, 2015, PEH has realised USD 14 million from this invest-
ment and is still holding ENTA-shares worth USD 13.25 million.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

    

EUR 1,000 Notes
01.04.14-
31.03.15

01.04.13-
31.03.14

Income    

Net gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 29,173 27,366

Other interest income  12 8

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  1,088 (236)

Other income  125 68

Total income  30,398 27,206

    

    

Expenses    

Administration expenses 14,16 6,296 5,886

Corporate expenses 14 1,082 1,002

Transaction expenses 14 84 155

Total expenses  7,462 7,043

Profit/(loss) from operations  22,936 20,163

Income tax expenses  — —

Profit/(loss) for the period attributable to equity holders of the company  22,936 20,163

    

    

Other comprehensive income    

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of income tax  — —

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period attributable to equity holders of the company  22,936 20,163 
   

 
01.04.14-
31.03.15

01.04.13-
31.03.14

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during period 3,093,972 3,365,798

Basic earnings per share (EUR) 7.41 5.99

Diluted earnings per share (EUR) 7.41 5.99

Comprehensive earnings per share (EUR) 7.41 5.99 
Minor differences in totals are due to rounding. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

    

EUR 1,000 Notes 31.03.15 31.03.14

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 6 5,999 16,592

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - securities 8.1 585 523

Receivables and prepayments 7 177 662

Total current assets  6,761 17,777

Non-current assets    

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8.2 210,429 194,164

Total non-current assets  210,429 194,164

Total assets  217,190 211,941

    

    

Liabilities and equity    

Current liabilities    

Payables and other accrued expenses 12 707 1,351

Total current liabilities  707 1,351

Non-current liabilities    

Total non-current liabilities  — —

Total liabilities  707 1,351

Equity    

Share capital  11,624 12,842

Share premium  65,422 83,999

Treasury shares 13 (6,081) (10,368)

Retained earnings  145,518 124,117

Total equity  216,483 210,590

Total liabilities and equity  217,190 211,941 
   

 31.03.15 31.03.14

Total number of shares as of period end 3,100,000 3,425,000

Number of treasury shares as of period end (109,900) (229,720)

Number of shares outstanding as of period end 2,990,100 3,195,280

Net asset value per share (EUR) 72.40 65.91 
Minor differences in totals are due to rounding. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

      

EUR 1,000
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Treasury 

shares
Retained 
earnings

Total 
equity

Opening as of 01.04.13 14,248 100,779 (13,191) 105,382 207,218

Profit/(loss) for the period — — — 20,163 20,163

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of 
income tax — — — — —

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period — — — 20,163 20,163

Purchase of treasury shares — — (11,552) — (11,552)

Sale of treasury shares — 148 771 — 919

Cancellation of treasury shares1 (1,406) (12,198) 13,604 — —

Repayment of share premium1 — (4,730) — (1,428) (6,158)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company (1,406) (16,780) 2,823 (1,428) (16,791)

Total as of 31.03.14 12,842 83,999 (10,368) 124,117 210,590

      

Opening as of 01.04.14 12,842 83,999 (10,368) 124,117 210,590

Profit/(loss) for the period — — — 22,936 22,936

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of 
income tax — — — — —

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period — — — 22,936 22,936

Purchase of treasury shares — — (10,939) — (10,939)

Sale of treasury shares — 22 243 — 265

Cancellation of treasury shares2 (1,218) (13,765) 14,983 — —

Repayment of share premium2 — (4,834) — (1,535) (6,369)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company (1,218) (18,577) 4,287 (1,535) (17,043)

Total as of 31.03.15 11,624 65,422 (6,081) 145,518 216,483 
Minor differences in totals are due to rounding. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1 The Annual General Meeting held on July 4, 2013 decided to reduce the share capital by cancelling 375,000 treasury shares. The capital reduction 	
	 was effective in the commercial register as of September 17, 2013.The Annual General Meeting decided further on a repayment of share premium 	
	 (paid-in capital) in the amount of CHF 2.25 per outstanding share (no repayment of share premium (paid-in capital) was made on treasury shares). 	
	 The repayment of share premium (paid-in capital) was made with value date September 26, 2013.
2 The Annual General Meeting held on July 4, 2014 decided to reduce the share capital by cancelling 325,000 treasury shares. The capital reduction 	
	 was effective in the commercial register as of September 19, 2014. The Annual General Meeting decided further on a repayment of share premium 	
	 (paid-in capital) in the amount of CHF 2.50 per outstanding share (no repayment of share premium (paid-in capital) was made on treasury shares). 	
	 The repayment of share premium (paid-in capital) was made with value date July 14, 2014.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

    

EUR 1,000 Notes
01.04.14-
31.03.15

01.04.13-
31.03.14

Cash flow from operating activities    

Capital contributed to investments  (28,415) (23,206)

Distributions received from investments1  41,674 57,810

Quoted securities sold  138 21

Interest received  12 8

Administration expenses paid  (6,438) (6,301)

Corporate expenses paid  (904) (761)

Transaction expenses paid  (81) (155)

Change in other working capital items  (44) 359

    

Net cash (used)/provided by operating activities  5,942 27,775

    

Cash flow from financing activities    

Purchase of treasury shares  (11,353) (11,243)

Sale of treasury shares  271 806

Repayment of share premium 13 (6,369) (6,158)

Commitment fee and arrangement fee on bank borrowings  (178) (268)

    

Net cash (used)/provided by financing activities  (17,629) (16,863)

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (11,687) 10,912

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  16,592 5,955

    

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  1,094 (275)

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  5,999 16,592 
Minor differences in totals are due to rounding. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

1 Distributions received from investments include dividends from investments in the amount of EUR 815k (2013/2014: EUR 219k) and interest income 	
	 from investments in the amount of EUR 937k (2013/2014: EUR 958k).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1.	Reporting entity
Private Equity Holding AG (the “Company”) is a stock company incorporated under Swiss law with registered address at Got-
thardstrasse 28, 6304 Zug, Switzerland. The business activity of the Company is mainly conducted through its Cayman Islands 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

The business activity of the Group is the purchase, holding and disposal of investments held in private equity funds and 
directly in companies with above-average growth potential. The Board of Directors has appointed one of its members as 
the Board’s Delegate, who is responsible for managing the day-to-day business of the Company and the Group. ALPHA As-
sociates (Cayman), LP, Cayman Islands (“ALPHAC”), and ALPHA Associates AG, Zurich (“ALPHA”, together “ALPHA Group” 
or the “Investment Manager”), act as investment manager and investment adviser, respectively and provide certain support 
services to the Company. See also Note 16.

The Group has no employees.

2.	Basis of preparation

a)	 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended March 31, 2015 have been prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). They comply with Swiss law and Article 14 of the Directive 
on Financial Reporting issued by the SIX Swiss Exchange. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue on June 12, 2015 by the Board of Directors.

b)	 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss, which are measured at fair value. 

c)	 Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in EUR, which is the Company’s functional currency. 

3.	Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

a) Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, vari-
able returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other 
events in similar circumstances.

Scope of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, after the elimination of all 
significant intercompany accounts and transactions. All subsidiaries are owned 100%, either directly or indirectly, by the 
Company. The scope of consolidation includes the following entities:
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Company Domicile Percentage Share Capital 
(EUR 1,000)

Private Equity Holding AG Zug, Switzerland n/a 11,624

Private Equity Holding Cayman Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands 100% 687,414

Private Equity Fund Finance Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands 100% 8,677

Private Equity Direct Finance Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands 100% 124,984

Private Equity Co-Finance Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands 100% 46,869

Private Equity Holdings LP Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands 100% 12,8201 

Private Equity Parallel Holdings LP Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands 100% 2,5831 

1Limited Partners’ capital as of March 31, 2015. 

Private Equity Holding (Luxembourg) SA and Private Equity Holding (Netherlands) BV have been liquidated as of March 2, 
2015 and March 27, 2015 respectively. 

b) Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordi-
nary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attribut-
able to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares.

c) Net asset value per share

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing total shareholders’ equity with the number of ordinary shares in issue, net 
of treasury shares.

d) Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into EUR at the exchange rate at the dates of the transactions. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into EUR at the exchange rate 
at that date. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated into 
EUR at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. 

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign exchange gain/(loss), 
except for those arising on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised as a component of net 
gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

The following currency exchange rates were applied as of March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014 for the retranslation of mon-
etary assets and liabilities into EUR:

Currency 31.03.15 31.03.14

EUR/USD 1.0732 1.3775

EUR/CHF 1.0436 1.2182

EUR/GBP 0.7242 0.8267 
e) Financial assets and financial liabilities

As of April 2011, the Group has adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) (as issued in November 2009 and revised in 
October 2010) and the related consequential amendments in advance of its effective date. The impact of the application of 
IFRS 9 was that the cumulative net gains in relation to the Group’s long-term investments have been reclassified from the fair 
value reserve to retained earnings as of April 1, 2011.

Recognition and initial measurement 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date 
that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Other financial assets and liabilities are 
recognised on the date they are originated. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised initially at fair value, with transaction costs recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets or financial liabilities not 
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at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
their acquisition or issue.

Classification

The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

�� Designated as at fair value through profit or loss - fund investments, direct investments, loans and traded securities

Financial assets at amortised cost:

�� Loans and receivables - Other receivables

�� Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities and payables at amortised cost:

�� Other liabilities - Payables and other accrued expenses

Amortised cost measurement

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial 
recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the 
Group has access at that date. 

The fair value of quoted direct investments is determined by reference to their quoted market prices, defined as the “bid” 
price on the principal securities exchange or market on which such investments are traded as of close of business on the 
valuation date, or in the absence thereof, the last available price quotation from such exchange or market.

In estimating the fair value of unquoted direct investments and loans, the Group considers the most appropriate market valu-
ation techniques, using a maximum of observable inputs. 

These include but are not limited to the following:

�� Cost basis

�� Result of multiple analysis

�� Result of discounted cash flow analysis

�� Reference to transaction prices, including subsequent financing rounds

�� Reference to the valuation of the lead investor or other investors

�� Result of operational and environmental assessment

In estimating the fair value of unquoted fund investments, the Group considers all appropriate and applicable factors relevant 
to their value, including but not limited to the following:

�� Reference to the fund investments’ reporting information

�� Reference to transaction prices

�� Result of operational and environmental assessment

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of owner-
ship of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest on such transferred financial assets that 
is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.
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On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allo-
cated to the portion of the asset derecognised), and consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new 
liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

f) Net gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Net gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, 
dividends and interest income from investments and foreign exchange differences. 

g) Interest and dividend income

Net gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes interest and dividend income from investments 
(see Note 9).

Interest income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the right to receive payment is established. 

h) Administration expenses and other expenses

Administration expenses and other expenses are recognised in profit or loss as the related services are performed. 

i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three 
months or less that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value. 

j) Income taxes

Private Equity Holding AG

The Company is taxed as a holding company in the Canton of Zug. Income, including dividend income and capital gains from 
its participations, is exempt from taxation at the cantonal and communal level. For Swiss federal tax purposes, income tax 
at an effective tax rate of approximately 7.8% is levied. However, dividend income qualifies for the participation exemption 
if the related investment represents at least 10% of the other company’s share capital or has a value of not less than CHF 1 
million. The participation exemption is extended to capital gains on the sale of a substantial participation (i.e. at least 10%), 
which was held for a minimum holding period of one year and in case the sales price of the participation exceeds its original 
acquisition cost. The result of the participation exemption pursuant to the aforementioned requirements is that dividend 
income and capital gains (except recovered depreciations) are almost fully exempt from taxation. Should the Company have 
an accumulated tax loss at the end of the period, a deferred tax asset, equal to the loss carried forward multiplied by the 
applicable tax rate, is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet unless it appears unlikely that the Company will realise 
sufficient future taxable profits to take advantage of the tax loss carried forward. This determination is made annually. Provi-
sions for taxes payable on profits earned in other Group companies are calculated and recorded based on the applicable tax 
rate in the relevant country, as outlined below.

Cayman Subsidiaries

Profits generated by the Cayman subsidiaries are currently not taxable.

Private Equity Holding (Netherlands) BV

Dividend and interest income and capital gains realised by the Netherlands subsidiary are generally subject to taxation in the 
Netherlands at the rate of 20% for the first EUR 200,000 of profit, and 25% for the profit above EUR 200,000. However, there is 
no income tax due on dividends and capital gains if the related investment qualifies for the participation exemption. Private 
Equity Holding (Netherlands) BV has been liquidated as of March 27, 2015.

Private Equity Holding (Luxembourg) SA

Dividend and interest income and capital gains realised by the Luxembourg subsidiary are generally subject to taxation in 
Luxembourg at the rate of approximately 30%. However, there is no income tax due on dividends and capital gains if the re-
lated investment qualifies for the participation exemption. To date, there is no final ruling from the Luxembourg tax authorities 
regarding the application of the tax relief for dividends and capital gains. Private Equity Holding (Luxembourg) SA has been 
liquidated as of March 2, 2015.
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k) New standards and interpretations 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 
January 1, 2014, and have been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these had a significant 
effect on the measurement of the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations that have been adopted by the Group for the year ended March 31, 2015:

�� Investment Entities: (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27); effective date: January 1, 2014

�� Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32); effective date: January 1, 2014

With regard to the amendments in IFRS 10 (especially IFRS 10.27), the subsidiaries are providing services to the Group that 
relate to its investment activities in accordance with IFRS 10.32. Therefore the Group decided to carry on consolidating the 
subsidiaries (see also Note 5.2. Critical judgement).

New standards, amendments of standards and interpretations that are not yet effective and might be relevant for the Group:

�� Annual Improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 Cycle; effective date: July 1, 2014

�� Annual Improvements to IFRS 2011-2013 Cycle; effective date: July 1, 2014

�� Annual Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 Cycle; effective date: January 1, 2016

�� Investment Entities: Applying the consolidation exemption (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28); effective date: 
January 1, 2016

�� Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1); effective date: January 1, 2016

�� Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15); effective date: January 1, 2017

�� Financial Instruments (IFRS 9): 2013 - Classification and measurement including Hedge Accounting, Impairment; effective 
date: January 1, 2018

The Group has not yet fully assessed the potential impact of these new standards, amendments to standards and annual 
improvements to IFRS.

4.	Financial risk management

4.1	 Introduction and overview

The Group has exposures to the following risks from financial instruments: market risk (including market price risk, interest 
rate risk, currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management process focuses on the unpredict-
ability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of the Group’s financial performance.

The Board of Directors, the Delegate and the Investment Manager attribute great importance to professional risk man-
agement, beginning with careful diversification, the sourcing of access to premier private equity investment opportunities, 
proper understanding and negotiation of appropriate terms and conditions and active monitoring including ongoing inter-
views with fund managers, thorough analysis of reports and financial statements and ongoing review of investments made. 
It is also key to structure the proper investment vehicles for the portfolio taking into account issues such as liquidity or tax 
related issues. The Group has investment guidelines that set out its overall business strategies, its tolerance for risk and its 
general risk management philosophy and has established processes to monitor and control the economic impact of these 
risks. The Investment Manager provides the Board of Directors with recommendations as to the Group’s asset allocation and 
annual investment level that are consistent with the Group’s objectives. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies 
for managing each of these risks as summarised below.

4.2	 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as equity prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

a) Market price risk on non-current assets

The Group invests in financial assets to take advantage of their long-term growth. All investments present a risk of loss of 
capital. The Investment Manager moderates the risk through a careful selection of financial assets within specified limits. 
All of the companies in which the Group and its investee funds invest are subject to the risks inherent in their industries. 
Moreover, established markets do not exist for these holdings, and, therefore, they are considered illiquid (excluding listed 
direct investments).
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The Group also invests a significant proportion of its assets in high-technology and biotechnology companies and funds, 
which represents a concentration of risk in two highly volatile industries. The Group attempts to minimise such risks by en-
gaging in extensive investment due diligence and close monitoring.

If the value of the investments (based on year-end values) had increased or decreased by 32.6% (change in LPX Indirect 
Index between April 1, 2014 and March 31, 2015) with all other variables held constant, the impact on consolidated equity 
would have been EUR 68.6 million (2013/2014: 12.7%, EUR 24.6 million).

The Group is exposed to a variety of market risk factors which may change significantly over time. As a result, measurement 
of such exposure at any given point in time may be difficult given the complexity and limited transparency of the underlying 
investments. Therefore, a sensitivity analysis is deemed of limited explanatory value or may be misleading.

b) Interest rate risk

The schedule below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Group’s assets and liabilities, 
categorised by the earlier of contractual pricing or maturity dates.

The only interest bearing financial assets as of March 31, 2015, are cash and cash equivalents of EUR 6.0 million, all with vari-
able interest rates (March 31, 2014: EUR 16.6 million). There were no interest bearing financial liabilities as of March 31, 2015 
(March 31, 2014: none). The interest paid on the bank borrowing (if drawn) is in substance variable due to its short re-pricing 
period. As a result, the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates is limited. 

As of March 31, 2015, should interest rates have risen or fallen by 25.8 basis points (change in 1 month EUR-LIBOR rate 
between April 1, 2014 and March 31, 2015) with all other variables remaining constant, the increase or decrease to the con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income and shareholder’s equity would have amounted to EUR 0.02 million (2013/2014: 
21.1 basis points, EUR 0.04 million).

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Group’s overall interest sensitivity on a monthly 
basis and the Board of Directors reviews it on a regular basis.

Interest rate risk as of March 31, 2015
      

EUR 1’000
Less than

1 month 1-3 months
More than 3 

months
Non-interest

bearing Total

Assets      

Cash 5,999 — — — 5,999

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss — — — 210,429 210,429

Other current assets — — — 762 762

Total assets 5,999 — — 211,191 217,190

      

Liabilities      

Payables and other accrued expenses — — — 707 707

Total liabilities — — — 707 707 
Interest rate risk as of March 31, 2014

EUR 1’000
Less than

1 month 1-3 months
More than 3 

months
Non-interest

bearing Total

Assets

Cash 16,592 — — — 16,592

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss — — — 194,687 194,687

Other current assets — — — 662 662

Total assets 16,592 — — 195,349 211,941

Liabilities

Payables and other accrued expenses — — — 1,351 1,351

Total liabilities — — — 1,351 1,351 
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c) Currency risk on current assets

The Group holds assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) and liabilities denominated in cur-
rencies other than its functional currency, which exposes the Group to the risk that the exchange rate of those currencies 
against the EUR will change in a manner which adversely impacts the Group’s consolidated net income and consolidated 
equity. Foreign exchange differences on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are included in the line item “Net 
gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to currency risks:

Currency risk as of March 31, 2015

    

 USD 1,000 CHF 1,000 GBP 1,000

Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 4,423 28 28

Other current assets 658 155 —

Total assets 5,081 183 28

    

Liabilities    

Payables and other accrued expenses — 36 —

Total liabilities — 36 —

    

Net exposure 5,081 147 28 
Currency risk as of March 31, 2014

    

 USD 1,000 CHF 1,000 GBP 1,000

Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 1,111 196 —

Other current assets 1,378 137 —

Total assets 2,489 333 —

    

Liabilities    

Payables and other accrued expenses — 614 —

Total liabilities — 614 —

    

Net exposure 2,489 (281) — 
As of March 31, 2015, had the exchange rate between the USD/EUR increased or decreased by 22.1% (change in USD/EUR 
rate between April 1, 2014 and March 31, 2015) with all other variables held constant, the increase or decrease to profit or 
loss and shareholders’ equity would have amounted to EUR 1.0 million (2013/2014: 6.7%, EUR 0.2 million).

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Group’s currency position on a monthly basis 
and the Board of Directors reviews it on a regular basis.

4.3	 Credit risk on current assets

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when 
due resulting in a loss for the Group. Impairment allowances are provided for losses that have been incurred by the balance 
sheet date, if any. The schedule below summarises the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Group’s credit position on a monthly basis and 
the Board of Directors reviews it on a regular basis.
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Credit risk as of March 31, 2015

    

EUR 1,000
Fully

performing Total
Rating

(Moody’s)

Cash at Credit Suisse AG 5,999 5,999 A1

Receivables and prepayments 762 762 n/a

Total exposure to credit risk 6,761 6,761   
Credit risk as of March 31, 2014

    

EUR 1,000
Fully

performing Total
Rating

(Moody’s)

Cash at Credit Suisse AG 16,592 16,592 A1

Receivables and prepayments 662 662 n/a

Total exposure to credit risk 17,254 17,254   
No financial assets carried at amortised cost were past due or impaired either at March 31, 2015 or March 31, 2014.

4.4	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations arising from its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset, or that such obligations will have to be settled in a manner 
disadvantageous to the Group. The Group’s policy and the Investment Manager’s approach to managing liquidity is to have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities, including estimated capital calls, without incurring undue losses or risking damage 
to the Group’s reputation.

Unfunded commitments are irrevocable and can exceed cash and cash equivalents available to the Group. Based on current 
short-term cash flow projections and barring unforeseen events, the Group expects to be able to honour all capital calls.

As of March 31, 2015, cash and cash equivalents of the Group amount to EUR 6.0 million (March 31, 2014: EUR 16.6 million). 
The total undrawn amount in respect of commitments made on or before March 31, 2015 is EUR 74.9 million (March 31, 2014: 
EUR 33.3 million). Unfunded commitments are off balance sheet items and will be drawn over time. They will be financed with 
the Group’s cash position and out of future distributions. In addition the Group has access to a EUR 16.0 million credit facility 
(see also Note 12).

The majority of the investments which the Group makes are unquoted and subject to specific restrictions on transferability 
and disposal. Consequently, the risk exists that the Group might not be able to readily dispose of its holdings in such markets 
or investments when it chooses and also that the price attained on a disposal is below the amount at which such investments 
are included in the Group’s balance sheet. 

The schedule below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the 
contractual maturity date. The amounts in the schedule are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 
months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant. In accordance with the Group’s policy, 
the Investment Manager monitors the Group’s liquidity position on a daily basis, and the Board of Directors reviews it on a 
regular basis.

Liquidity risk as of March 31, 2015
      

EUR 1,000
 Less than

1 month 1-3 months
More than 3 

months
No stated

maturity Total

Payables and other accrued expenses — 707  — 707

Accrued taxes — — — — —

Total liabilities (on balance sheet) — 707 — — 707

Unfunded commitments (off balance sheet) 74,916 — — — 74,916

Total 74,916 707 — — 75,623 
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Liquidity risk as of March 31, 2014
      

EUR 1,000
 Less than

1 month 1-3 months
More than 3 

months
No stated

maturity Total

Payables and other accrued expenses 488 863  — 1,351

Accrued taxes — — — — —

Total liabilities (on balance sheet) 488 863 — — 1,351

Unfunded commitments (off balance sheet) 33,275 — — — 33,275

Total 33,763 863 — — 34,626 
Unfunded commitments are irrevocable and may be called at any time. Although not expected in the normal course of busi-
ness, unfunded commitments are categorised as due within one month.

The Group made the following new investments and commitments, respectively during the financial year 2014/2015:

 Currency 
Amount 

1,000

ABRY Advanced Securities Fund III USD 8,000 

ABRY Partners VIII USD 9,375

ABRY Senior Equity IV USD 5,000

Bi-Invest Endowment Fund EUR 5,000

Clarus Lifesciences III USD 7,500

Flos (co-investment) EUR 3,997

Mid Europa Fund IV EUR 10,000

Sycamore II USD 10,000

Undisclosed Growth Fund II EUR 5,000

4.5	 Capital management

The Company’s capital is represented by ordinary shares with CHF 6.00 par value and carrying one vote each. They are en-
titled to dividends when declared. The Company has no additional restrictions or specific capital requirements on the issue 
and re-purchase of ordinary shares. The movements of capital are shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to 
achieve positive returns in all market environments. The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group man-
ages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteris-
tics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders 
through tax efficient repayments of paid-in capital, share capital reductions or repurchases and cancellation of own shares. 

The effects of the repurchases and resales of treasury shares as a result of market making activities in 2014/2015 are listed 
in Note 13. Neue Helvetische Bank AG, Zurich, acts as the Company’s market maker.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

5.	Critical accounting estimates and judgments

5.1	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of as-
sets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below.
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The fair values assigned to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are based upon available information and do 
not necessarily represent amounts which might ultimately be realised. Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation, 
these estimated fair values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss existed, and those differences could be material.

5.2	 Critical judgments

Consolidation

As a result of the amendments of IFRS 10, investment entities are exempted from consolidating controlled investees. Private 
Equity Holding AG meets the definition of an investment entity, as the following conditions are met:

�� The Company holds multiple investments

�� The business purpose of the Company is the purchase, holding and disposal of investments held in private equity funds 
and directly in companies with above-average growth potential with the goal to achieve returns from capital appreciation 
and investment income

�� The performance of these investments is measured and evaluated on a fair value basis

Private Equity Holding AG holds - directly and indirectly -  multiple investments in the form of private equity funds and direct 
investments. Following the requirements of IFRS 10, the Company applies the investment entity exemption. Investments 
exceeding 20% of the share capital are not consolidated but classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

As described in Note 3.a), the Company consolidated its wholly owned subsidiaries. The Company decided not to apply the 
investment entity exemption to its wholly owned subsidiaries as they provide services that relate to the investment activities. 
Therefore the Company based its decision on the majority of shareholding. 

Due to the amendment “Investment Entities: Applying the consolidation exemption (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 
28)” as issued in December 2014, the consolidation of the wholly owned subsidiaries needs to be revised as of January 1, 2016. 

Functional currency

The Board of Directors considers the EUR the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying 
transactions, events and conditions. The EUR is the currency in which the Group measures its performance and reports its 
results. This determination also considers the competitive environment in which the Group is compared to other investment 
products.

6.	Cash and cash equivalents

   

EUR 1,000 31.03.15 31.03.14

Cash at banks 5,999 16,592

Total cash and cash equivalents 5,999 16,592 
As of March 31, 2015, cash and cash equivalents are freely available. 

7.	Loans and receivables

   

EUR 1,000 31.03.15 31.03.14

Receivables 45 566

Total loans and receivables 45 566 
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8.	Financial assets

8.1	Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – securities

        

EUR 1,000
Fair value

31.03.14 Purchases
Sales 
(Cost)

Change in 
unrealised 

gains/
(losses)

Fair value
31.03.15

Total 
proceeds

Realised 
gains/

(losses)

58.com1 — — — — — 87 4

Arista Networks2 — — — — — 271 8

Barracuda 3 — — — — — 37 1

Inphi Corp.4 — — — — — 197 (3)

Laredo1 — — — — — 21 —

Marketo, Inc.5, 6 135 — — 3 — 138 —

Rally Software Development Corp.7 388 — — 197 585 — —

Twitter Inc.5 — — — — — 1,997 (60)

Total Securities 523 — — 200 585 2,748 (50) 
1Distribution in kind from Warburg Pincus Private Equity X.
2Distribution in kind from Undisclosed Growth Fund I.
3Distribution in kind from Francisco Partners.
4Distribution in kind from Institutional Venture Partners XI.
5Distribution in kind from Institutional Venture Partners XII.
6Distribution in kind from Institutional Venture Partners XIII.
7Distribution in kind from Boulder Ventures IV.

The quoted securities which are classified as current assets are mandatorily measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS 9.
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8.2	Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – non-current assets

   Commitments   Book values   
Returns

01.04.14-31.03.15 

 
Vin-
tage

Original
fund

currency

Original 
amount
FC 1,000

Paid in
31.03.15
FC 1,000

Unfunded
commit-

ment
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Fair 
value

01.04.14
EUR 1,000

Capital
calls 

EUR 1,000

Return
of capital 
EUR 1,000

Change in 
unrealised 

gains/
(losses)

EUR 1,000

Fair value
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Total 
distri-

butions
EUR 1,000

Real. 
gains/

(losses)
EUR 1,000

Buyout Funds             
ABRY Partners VI *** 2008 USD 7,500 7,331 157 3,113 49 685 86 2,562 2,089 1,302
ABRY Partners VII*** 2011 USD 7,500 7,100 373 5,273 597 424 1,772 7,218 745 191
ABRY Partners VIII 2014 USD 9,375 — 8,736 — — — — — — —
ALPHA CEE II ** 2006 EUR 15,000 14,163 837 11,935 — 176 874 12,633 195 19
Apax Europe IV * 1999 EUR 50,000 4,623 * 874 — — 202 1,075 — —
Avista Capital Partners *** 2006 USD 10,000 10,000 — 5,268 87 371 942 5,926 371 (13)
Avista Capital Partners II *** 2008 USD 10,000 10,000 — 6,984 560 312 4,370 11,602 789 477
Avista Capital Partners III *** 2011 USD 10,000 7,767 2,081 4,779 796 205 1,288 6,657 196 (10)
Bi-Invest Endowment Fund 2014 EUR 5,000 5,000 —  5,000 — 213 5,213 — —
Bridgepoint Europe I B  * 1998 GBP 15,000 620 * 411 — — (28) 383 — —
Bridgepoint Europe IV 2008 EUR 10,000 8,839 1,161 9,173 35 1,741 185 7,652 3,152 442
Capvis Equity III *** 2008 EUR 10,000 9,225 775 7,495 (62) 207 (10) 7,216 290 58
Clayton, Dubilier and Rice Fund VI * 1998 USD 35,000 9,661 * 2,169 25 1,042 (1,066) 85 2,045 1,003
Doughty Hanson & Co. III No. 12  * 1997 USD 65,000 46,037 * 8,102 — — (1,115) 6,987 — —
Europe Capital Partners IV 1999 EUR 4,111 4,111 — 311 — — (311) — 350 350
Francisco Partners 2000 USD 3,222 2,927 274 1,299 — 709 618 1,207 459 (257)
Industri Kapital 2007 Fund *** 2007 EUR 10,000 10,000 — 8,230 42 1,467 852 7,657 2,400 644
Investindustrial IV *** 2008 EUR 10,000 10,000 — 5,591 97 — 497 6,185 6 6
Investindustrial V *** 2012 EUR 5,000 2,210 2,790 575 1,355 — (146) 1,784 — —
Mid Europa Fund IV 2014 EUR 10,000 1,430 8,570 — 1,430 — — 1,430 — —
Milestone 2007 2007 EUR 1,229 1,229 — — — (5) (5) — 4 9
Milestone 2008 2008 EUR 3,690 2,550 1,140 2,407 10 — 665 3,082 28 —
Nordic Capital IV * 2000 SEK 120,000 1,586 * — — — — — 8 8
Palamon European CP */ *** 1999 EUR 10,000 7,723 * 4,251 — — (105) 4,146 — —
Procuritas Capital Partners II **** 1997 SEK 40,000 38,900 — 5 — — (0) 5 — —
Warburg Pincus Private Equity X 2007 USD 15,000 15,006 — 9,897 — 819 1,099 10,177 2,245 1,346
Wasserstein Partners III*** 2012 USD 10,000 4,957 4,699  3,871 414 400 3,857 1,400 982
Total Buyout Funds     31,593 98,140 13,891 8,568 11,276 114,739 16,771 6,556

Minor differences in totals are due to rounding.  

*	 Fund investments included in the former earn-out portfolio. These funds are reaching the end of their life and are fully or almost fully paid 	
	 in. A few earn-out funds could recall a portion of previous distributions for follow-on investments. Future fund expenses, if any, are likely to 	
	 be deducted from future distributions. Therefore, no unfunded commitment is shown for the former earn-out funds.
**	 Funds managed by Alpha Associates (Cayman), LP. These funds are excluded from the NAV for the purpose of calculating the management 	
	 fee. 
***	 Along with the unfunded commitments, distributions in the total amount of EUR 18.3 million (whereof ABRY ASF accounts for USD 5 million,  
	 Avista Capital Partners II accounts for EUR 3.6 million and Industri Kapital 2007 Fund accounts for EUR 1.8 million) are recallable from these 	
	 funds as of March 31, 2015. As the investment period of most of these funds has already expired, recallable distributions can in general only 	
	 be recycled for follow-on investments and are therefore not expected to be drawn in full.
****	 Fund in liquidation, no further drawdowns expected. Unfunded commitment reduced to 0.
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8.2  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - non-current assets (continued)

   Commitments   Book values   
Returns

01.04.14-31.03.15 

 
Vin-
tage

Original
fund

currency

Original 
amount
FC 1,000

Paid in
31.03.15
FC 1,000

Unfunded
commit-

ment
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Fair value
01.04.14

EUR 1,000

Capital
calls 

EUR 1,000

Return
of capital 
EUR 1,000

Change in 
unrealised 

gains/
(losses)

EUR 1,000

Fair value
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Total 
distri-

butions
EUR 1,000

Real. 
gains/

(losses)
EUR 1,000

Venture Funds             
Boulder Ventures IV *** 2001 USD 11,250 11,250 — 1,233 — 285 174 1,122 65 (219)
Carmel Software Fund 2000 USD 10,000 10,293 — 2,497 — — 230 2,727 — —
Carmel Software Fund (Secondary) 2000 USD 782 782 — 742 — — 68 810 — —
CDC Innovation 2000 2000 EUR 10,002 9,676 326 1,588 — — (30) 1,557 — —
Clarus Lifesciences III 2013 USD 7,500 1,073 5,989 — 857 — 97 955 — —
Highland Europe I 2012 EUR 5,000 3,797 1,203 2,672 1,126 — 467 4,265 — —
Insight Capital Partners (Cayman) III * 1999 USD 30,000 5,147 * 4,652 — 1,117 (2,596) 939 3,154 2,036
Institutional Venture Partners XI 2004 USD 5,000 5,000 — 575 — 314 140 401 253 (61)
Institutional Venture Partners XII 2007 USD 5,000 5,000 — 5,269 — 221 (2,583) 2,465 2,056 1,835
Institutional Venture Partners XIII 2010 USD 5,000 4,750 233 3,434 198 58 1,914 5,488 45 (13)
Kennet III*** 2007 EUR 5,000 5,000 — 6,322 — 235 (1,842) 4,246 1,088 819
Minicap Technology Investment 1997 CHF 10,967 10,967 — 188 — — 24 213 — —
Partech International Ventures IV * 2000 USD 15,000 8,145 * 2,943 — 1,527 371 1,787 764 (763)
Renaissance Venture 1998 GBP 5,486 5,162 447 1,685 — — 234 1,919 — —
Renaissance Venture (Secondary) 1998 GBP 514 271 336 1,263 — — 176 1,439 — —
Star Seed Enterprise 1998 USD 5,000 5,000 — — — — — — 247 247
Strategic European Technologies 1997 EUR 18,151 18,151 — 470 — — 230 701 — —
SVE Star Venture Enterprises VII**** 1998 USD 5,000 4,950 — — — — — — 11 11
SVE Star Ventures Enterprises VIIa 1998 USD 500 500 — — — 70 70 — 5 (65)
TAT Investments I 1997 USD 24,000 24,289 — 1,034 — — 245 1,279 — —
TAT Investments II 1999 USD 15,000 15,001 — 1,175 — — 207 1,382 — —
TVM III GmbH & Co. KG 1997 EUR 5,736 5,737 — 39 — — (39) — 48 48
Undisclosed Growth Fund I 2011 EUR 5,000 4,201 799 2,495 1,611 84 371 4,394 n/d n/d
Undisclosed Growth Fund II 2015 EUR 5,000 — 5,000 — — — — — n/d n/d
Total Venture Funds     14,332 40,277 3,792 3,912 (2,070) 38,088 7,990 4,044 

Minor differences in totals are due to rounding.  

*	 Fund investments included in the former earn-out portfolio. These funds are reaching the end of their life and are fully or almost fully paid in. 	
	 A few earn-out funds could recall a portion of previous distributions for follow-on investments. Future fund expenses, if any, are likely to be 	
	 deducted from future distributions. Therefore, no unfunded commitment is shown for the former earn-out funds.
***	 Along with the unfunded commitments, distributions in the total amount of EUR 18.3 million (whereof ABRY ASF accounts for USD 5 million,  
	 Avista Capital Partners II accounts for EUR 3.6 million and Industri Kapital 2007 Fund accounts for EUR 1.8 million) are recallable from these 	
	 funds as of March 31, 2015. As the investment period of most of these funds has already expired, recallable distributions can in general only 	
	 be recycled for follow-on investments and are therefore not expected to be drawn in full.
****	 Fund in liquidation, no further drawdowns expected. Unfunded commitment reduced to 0.



35  |  Annual Report as of March 31, 2015

8.2  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - non-current assets (continued)

   Commitments   Book values   
Returns

01.04.14-31.03.15 

 
Vin-
tage

Original
fund

currency

Original 
amount
FC 1,000

Paid in
31.03.15
FC 1,000

Unfunded
commit-

ment
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Fair value
01.04.14

EUR 1,000

Capital
calls 

EUR 1,000

Return
of capital 
EUR 1,000

Change in 
unrealised 

gains/
(losses)

EUR 1,000

Fair value
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Total 
distri-

butions
EUR 1,000

Real. 
gains/

(losses)
EUR 1,000

Special Situation Funds             
17 Capital Fund*** 2008 EUR 5,000 4,779 221 2,690 56 1,323 115 1,537 1,963 640
ABRY Advanced Securities Fund 2008 USD 15,000 7,204 4,984 1,304 56 1,068 (6) 285 1,388 319
ABRY Advanced Securities Fund III 2014 USD 8,000 1,599 5,964 — 1,244 — 147 1,391 — —
ABRY Senior Equity IV *** 2013 USD 5,000 2,318 2,499 1,083 693 177 483 2,082 292 70
ALPHA Russia & CIS Secondary ** 2010 USD 15,000 13,890 1,034 10,096 1,808 1,527 424 10,801 1,936 507
DB Secondary Opp. Fund A ***** 2007 USD 5,376 4,327 489 713 — 170 206 750 77 (91)
DB Secondary Opp. Fund C 2007 USD 9,288 6,905 2,220 3,854 — 811 (651) 2,392 2,148 1,254
OCM EPOF II 2007 EUR 5,000 4,875 125 3,811 — 802 69 3,079 1,128 326
OCM Opportunities Fund VII 2007 USD 5,000 5,000 — 794 — 64 184 914 122 58
OCM Opportunities Fund VIIb 2008 USD 5,000 4,500 466 803 — 71 (99) 632 209 138
Sycamore II 2014 USD 10,000 652 8,710 — 485 — 86 571 — —
WL Ross Recovery Fund IV *** 2007 USD 10,000 9,056 879 4,494 (20) 938 (287) 3,248 1,562 616
Total Special Situation Funds     27,593 29,642 4,321 6,951 670 27,682 10,824 3,838
Total Fund investments     73,518 168,060 22,005 19,431 9,876 180,509 35,586 14,437 

Minor differences in totals are due to rounding.  

**	 Funds managed by Alpha Associates (Cayman), LP. These funds are excluded from the NAV for the purpose of calculating the management 	
	 fee. 
***		  Along with the unfunded commitments, distributions in the total amount of EUR 18.3 million (whereof ABRY ASF accounts for USD 5 million,  
		  Avista Capital Partners II accounts for EUR 3.6 million and Industri Kapital 2007 Fund accounts for EUR 1.8 million) are recallable from these 	
		  funds as of March 31, 2015. As the investment period of most of these funds has already expired, recallable distributions can in general only 	
		  be recycled for follow-on investments and are therefore not expected to be drawn in full.
*****	 Remaining commitment was reduced by the fund manager. 

 Commitments   Book values  
Returns 

01.04.14-31.03.15 

 
Original 

currency

Original 
amount
FC 1,000

Unfunded
commit-

ment
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Fair value
01.04.14

EUR 1,000

Capital
calls 

EUR 1,000

Return
of 

capital 
EUR 

1,000

Change in 
unrealised 

gains/
(losses)

EUR 1,000

Fair value
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Total 
distri-

butions
EUR 1,000

Real. 
gains/

(losses)
EUR 1,000

Direct investments           
Acino Holding AG USD 4,500 1,398 2,178 — — 618 2,796 — —
Actano Holding AG CHF 4,108 — 410 2,122 — 9 2,541 — —
Applied Spectral Imaging USD 4,162 — 1,552 — — 440 1,992 — —
Aston Martin EUR 3,073 — 3,073 — — 118 3,191 — —
Avecia GBP 7,078 — — — — — — 36 —
CyDex USD 3,000 — — — — — — 266 266
Earnix USD 201 — 146 — — 41 187 — —
Enanta Pharmaceuticals USD 7,279 — 16,710 — 565 (3,795) 12,350 5,282 4,716
Evotec EUR 250 — 177 — — (3) 174 — —
Flos EUR 3,997 — — 3,997 — — 3,997 — —
Neurotech USD 1,917 — 789 505 — 546 1,841 — —
Total Direct investments   1,398 25,037 6,624 565 (2,026) 29,070 5,584 4,982 

Minor differences in totals are due to rounding. 



Annual Report as of March 31, 2015  |  36

8.2  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - non-current assets (continued)

 Commitments   Book values  
Returns 

01.04.14-31.03.15 

 
Original 

currency

Original 
amount
FC 1,000

Unfunded
commit-

ment
31.03.15

EUR 1,000

Fair 
value

01.04.14
EUR 1,000

Capital
calls 

EUR 1,000

Return
of capital 
EUR 1,000

Change in 
unrealised 

gains/
(losses)

EUR 1,000

Fair 
value

31.03.15
EUR 1,000

Total 
distri-

butions
EUR 1,000

Real. 
gains/

(losses)
EUR 1,000

Loan investments           

Actano Holding AG EUR 850 — 1,067 (217) — — 850 — —

Oscient USD 500 — — — — — — 2 2

Total Loan investments   — 1,067 (217) — — 850 2 2

Total Portfolio   74,916 194,164 28,412 19,997 7,850 210,429 41,171 19,421 
Minor differences in totals are due to rounding. 

The following table shows the aging of the underlying reports as provided by the fund managers which served as a basis for 
the year end valuations:

Date of underlying report Number of reports
Fair value
EUR 1,000

Percentage  
of fair value

December 31, 2014 51 180,504 100.0%

September 30, 2014 and older 1 5 0.0%

Total fund investments 52 180,509 100.0% 
The valuation of unquoted fund investments is generally based on the latest available net asset value (“NAV”) of the fund 
reported by the corresponding fund manager provided that the NAV has been appropriately determined by using proper fair 
value principles. In general, NAV is adjusted by capital calls and distributions falling between the date of the latest NAV of 
the fund and the reporting date of the Group. In addition, the valuations of listed underlying investee companies which are 
valued mark-to-market by the fund manager are adjusted to reflect the current share price on their primary stock exchange 
as of the reporting date of the Group.

9.	�Net gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

   

EUR 1,000
01.04.14-
31.03.15

01.04.13-
31.03.14

Change in unrealised gains/(losses) from quoted securities 200 (235)

Realised gains/(losses) from quoted securities (50) 26

Change in unrealised gains/(losses) from non-current financial assets 7,850 (2,345)

Realised gains/(losses) from non-current financial assets 19,421 28,716

Interest income from non-current financial assets 937 975

Dividend income from non-current financial assets 815 229

Total net gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 29,173 27,366 
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10.	Segment information

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided by ALPHA to the Board of 
Directors.

The Group has two reportable segments, as described below. For each of them, the Board of Directors receives detailed 
reports on at least a monthly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable seg-
ments:

�� Fund investments: Includes primary and secondary commitments/investments in funds

�� Direct investments and Loans: Includes purchases of equity stakes in companies and the granting of loans to companies 
with high growth potential

Balance sheet and income and expense items which cannot be clearly allocated to one of the segments are shown in the 
column “Unallocated” in the following tables. 

The reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily by seeking investments to achieve an attractive return in 
relation with the risk being taken. The return consists of interest, dividends and/or (un)realised capital gains.

The amounts provided to the Board of Directors with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that 
of the financial statements. The assessment of the performance of the operating segments is based on measures consistent 
with IFRS.

There have been no transactions between the reportable segments during the business year 2014/2015.

The amounts provided to the Board of Directors with respect to total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 
that of the financial statements. These liabilities are not considered to be segment liabilities but rather managed at corporate 
level.

The segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the reportable segments for the year ended March 31, 2015 
is as follows:

      

EUR 1,000
Fund

investments

Direct 
investments 

& Loans

Total
operating
segments

Un-
allocated Total

      

Net gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 26,029 2,994 29,023 150 29,173

      

Other interest income — — — 12 12

      

Administration expense — — — (6,296) (6,296)

Corporate and transaction expense — — — (1,166) (1,166)

Interest expense — — — — —

Other — — — 1,213 1,213

      

Profit/(loss) from operations 26,029 2,994 29,023 (6,087) 22,936

Total assets 180,509 29,920 210,429 6,761 217,190

Total liabilities — — — 707 707

Total assets include:      

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 180,509 29,920 210,429 585 211,014

Others — — — 6,176 6,176 
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The segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the reportable segments for the period ended March 31, 2014 
is as follows:

EUR 1,000
Fund

investments

Direct 
investments 

& Loans

Total
operating
segments

Un-
allocated Total

      

Net gain/(loss) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18,330 9,245 27,575 (209) 27,366

      

Other interest income — — — 8 8

      

Administration expense — — — (5,886) (5,886)

Corporate and transaction expense — — — (1,157) (1,157)

Interest expense — — — — —

Other — — — (168) (168)

      

Profit/(loss) from operations 18,330 9,245 27,575 (7,412) 20,163

Total assets 168,060 26,104 194,164 17,777 211,941

Total liabilities — — — 1,351 1,351

Total assets include:      

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 168,060 26,104 194,164 523 194,687

Others — — — 17,254 17,254 
11.	Disclosures about fair value of financial instruments

The table below analyses recurring fair value measurements for the Group’s financial instruments. These fair value 
measurements are categorised into different levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation techniques 
used. The different levels are defined as follows: 

�� Level I inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments that the Group can access at the 
measurement date 

�� Level II inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level I that are observable for the instrument, either 
directly or indirectly

�� Level III inputs are unobservable inputs for the instrument 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on 
the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the signifi-
cance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observ-
able inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level III measurement. 
Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, considering 
factors specific to the instrument. The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgment by the 
Group. The Group considers observable data to be market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reli-
able and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.
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The following table analyses the Group’s investments measured at fair value as of March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014 by the 
level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

As of March 31, 2015

EUR 1,000 Level I Level II Level III Total

     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

Quoted securities 585 — — 585

Fund investments — — 180,509 180,509

Direct investments 12,524 — 16,546 29,070

Loans — — 850 850

Total financial assets measured at fair value 13,109 — 197,905 211,014 
As of March 31, 2014

EUR 1,000 Level I Level II Level III Total

     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

Quoted securities 523 — — 523

Fund investments — — 168,060 168,060

Direct investments 16,887 — 8,150 25,037

Loans — — 1,067 1,067

Total financial assets measured at fair value 17,410 — 177,277 194,687 
Carrying amounts for short term receivables and payables approximate their fair values.

Level I

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and are therefore classified within Level I 
include active listed equities. The Group does not adjust the quoted price for these investments.

Level II

None.

Level III

The Group has determined that unquoted private equity investments (“unlisted investments”) fall into the category Level III. 
The financial statements as of March 31, 2015 include Level III financial assets in the amount of EUR 197.9 million, representing 
approximately 91.4% of equity (March 31, 2014: EUR 177.3 million, 84.2%).

Unquoted direct investments and loans

In estimating the fair value of unquoted direct investments and loans, the Group considers the most appropriate market 
valuation techniques, using a maximum of observable inputs.

These include but are not limited to the following:

�� Transaction price paid for an identical or a similar instrument in an investment, including subsequent financing rounds

�� Comparable company valuation multiples

�� Discounted cash flow method 

�� Reference to the valuation of the lead investor or other investors provided that these were determined in accordance 
with IFRS 13
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Unquoted fund investments

In estimating the fair value of unquoted fund investments, the Group considers all appropriate and applicable factors relevant 
to their value, including but not limited to the following:

�� Reference to the fund investment’s reporting information

�� Reference to transaction prices 

The valuation method used for unquoted fund investments is the “adjusted net asset method”. The Group does not utilise 
valuation models with model inputs to calculate the fair value for its Level III investments. The valuation is generally based on 
the latest available net asset value (“NAV”) of the fund reported by the corresponding fund manager provided that the NAV 
has been appropriately determined by using proper fair value principles in accordance with IFRS 13. In terms of IFRS 13 the 
NAV is considered to be the key unobservable input. No reasonably possible change in the inputs used in determining the 
fair value would cause the fair value of Level III investments to significantly change. In general, NAV is adjusted by capital 
calls and distributions falling between the date of the latest NAV of the fund and the reporting date of the Group. In addition, 
the valuations of listed underlying investee companies which are valued mark-to-market by the fund manager are adjusted to 
reflect the current share price on their primary stock exchange as of the reporting date of the Group. The adjusted net asset 
method is the single technique used across all fund investment types (Buyout, Venture, Special Situations). Other reasons for 
adjustments include but are not limited to the following:

�� The Group becoming aware of subsequent changes in the fair values of underlying investee companies

�� Features of the fund agreement that might affect distributions

�� Inappropriate recognition of potential carried interest 

�� Market changes or economic conditions changing to impact the value of the fund’s portfolio

�� Materially different valuations by fund managers for common companies and identical securities 

�� NAV reported by the fund has not been appropriately determined by using proper fair value principles in accordance with 
IFRS 13

In addition, the Group has the following control procedures in place to evaluate whether the NAV of the underlying fund 
investments is calculated in a manner consistent with IFRS 13:

�� Thorough initial due diligence process and ongoing monitoring procedures

�� Comparison of historical realisations to last reported fair values

�� Qualifications, if any, in the auditor’s report or whether there is a history of significant adjustments to NAV reported by the 
fund manager as a result of its annual audit or otherwise 

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which 
the transfer has occurred. There were no transfers between the levels during the twelve months ended March 31, 2015.

The changes in investments measured at fair value for which the Company has used Level III inputs to determine fair value 
as of March 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

     
As of March 31, 2015

EUR 1,000
Fund  

investments
Direct 

investments Loans Total

Fair value of Level III investments at the beginning of the period 168,060 8,150 1,067 177,277

Total capital calls from Level III investments 22,005 6,624 (217) 28,412

Total distributions from Level III investments (35,585) (302) (2) (35,889)

Total gains or losses:     

  realised in profit or loss 16,154 302 2 16,458

  unrealised in profit or loss 9,875 1,772 — 11,647

  in other comprehensive income — — — —

Fair value of Level III investments at the end of the period 180,509 16,546 850 197,905 
In the above table, total gains or losses in profit or loss for the period are included in the line item “Net gain from financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss”. Thereof EUR 27,481k are related to assets held at the end of the reporting period. 
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As of March 31, 2014

EUR 1,000
Fund  

investments
Direct 

investments Loans Total

Fair value of Level III investments at the beginning of the period 186,227 4,130 — 190,357

Total capital calls from Level III investments 16,643 5,496 1,067 23,206

Total distributions from Level III investments (53,141) (241) — (53,382)

Total gains or losses:     

  realised in profit or loss 25,725 241 — 25,966

  unrealised in profit or loss (7,394) (1,476) — (8,870)

  in other comprehensive income — — — —

Fair value of Level III investments at the end of the period 168,060 8,150 1,067 177,277 
12.	Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

EUR 1,000 31.03.15 31.03.14

Payables to third parties — 462

Payables to related parties 607 784

Accrued expenses 100 105

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 707 1,351 
On December 20, 2013, the Company signed an agreement with Credit Suisse AG for a EUR 16.0 million revolving credit facil-
ity. This facility allows the Company to bridge timing gaps between outflows and inflows, cover short-term liquidity squeezes 
and manage and hedge market risks. The credit facility, if and when drawn, is secured by the Company’s ownership interest 
in Private Equity Holding Cayman. 

The applicable interest rate on any amounts outstanding under the facility is LIBOR for the requested currency term plus 250 
basis points.

The Company is obliged to pay a quarterly commitment fee of 0.275% on the undrawn amount. There was no arrangement 
fee for the credit facility.

The actual level of utilisation is limited to 20% of the Company’s consolidated NAV. Hence, the NAV cannot be lower than  
EUR 80 million for full utilisation. 

As of March 31, 2015, the credit facility was not drawn and no interest expenses for the financial year 2014/2015 were in-
curred (2013/2014 EUR nil). Commitment fees amounted to EUR 178k for the business year 2014/2015 (2013/2014 EUR 197k) and 
are included in corporate expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

The credit facility expires on December 31, 2016. 

13.	Shareholders’ equity and movements in treasury shares

The Group regards shareholders’ equity as the capital that it manages. Shareholders’ equity amounts to EUR 216.5 million as 
of March 31, 2015 (March 31, 2014: EUR 210.6 million).

Share capital and earnings/(loss) per share 31.03.15 31.03.14 

Number of shares authorised and issued 3,100,000 3,425,000 

Par value per share (CHF) 6.00 6.00 

Par value per share (EUR)* 3.75 3.75 

*converted at historical foreign exchange rate.

The Annual General Meeting held on July 4, 2014 decided to reduce the share capital by cancelling 325,000 treasury shares. 
The capital reduction was effective in the commercial register as of September 19, 2014. The Annual General Meeting de-
cided further on a repayment of share premium (paid-in capital) in the amount of CHF 2.50 per outstanding share (no repay-
ment of share premium (paid-in capital) was made on treasury shares). The repayment of share premium (paid-in capital) 
was made with value date July 14, 2014.
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All shares have equal rights to vote and to receive dividends, as well as to share in the distribution of the net assets of the 
Company upon liquidation.

Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding 31.03.15 31.03.14

Number of shares outstanding net of treasury shares at the beginning of the year 3,195,280 3,422,090

Purchase of treasury shares (210,279) (246,954)

Sale of treasury shares 5,099 20,144

Number of shares outstanding net of treasury shares at the end of the year 2,990,100 3,195,280 

Per share data 31.03.15 31.03.14 

Weighted average of total number of shares (1,000) 3,094 3,366 

Profit (EUR 1,000) 22,936 20,163 

Comprehensive income (EUR 1,000) 22,936 20,163 

Profit per share (EUR) 7.41 5.99 

Comprehensive income per share (EUR) 7.41 5.99

Net asset value per share (EUR) 72.40 65.91

Book value per share (EUR) 72.40 65.91 

Shareholders with shares and voting rights of 3% and more

As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, the following major shareholders were known to the Company:

Holding in % of share capital 31.03.15 31.03.14

Between 3% and 5% Bernhard Schürmann (Langnau am Albis)

Private Equity Holding (Zug)  
(registered without voting rights)

Bernhard Schürmann (Langnau am Albis)

Mantra Investissement SCA (Paris, France)

Between 5% and 10% Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Adliswil) Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Adliswil)

Robert Knapp (Boston, USA), prior disclosed as 
Ironsides Partners Opportunity Master Fund L.P. 
(Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands)1 

Private Equity Holding AG (Zug)  
(registered without voting rights)

Between 10% and 15% — Asset Value Investors (London, UK; incl. British 
Empire Securities and General Trust Plc)2 

Between 15% and 20% Asset Value Investors (London, UK;  
incl. British Empire Securities and  
General Trust Plc)2 

—

Between 20% and 25% — ALPHA Associates Group (Zurich)3

Between 25% and 33.33% ALPHA Associates Group (Zurich)3 — 
1	 Robert Knapp / Ironsides Partners updated the respective disclosure notification in August 2013 replacing the original one.
2	 British Empire Securities and General Trust Plc disclosed a shareholding above 5% on April 1, 2014, which had previously been disclosed as part  
	 of Asset Value Investors.
3	 The ALPHA Associates Group is represented by ALPHA Associates AG, C+E Investment AG, Dr. Peter Derendinger, Dr. Petra Salesny, Petr Rojicek	
	 and Christoph Huber.
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Net changes in treasury shares
    

Net changes in treasury shares
Number of 

shares
Average cost base

EUR
Total cost base

EUR 1,000

April 1, 2014 229,720 45.13 10,368

April 7,109 45.22 340

May 95,199 46.10 4,599

June (1,105) 46.11 (51)

July — 46.11 —

August — 46.11 —

September (cancellation) (325,000) 46.10 (14,984)

September (1,351) 46.10 (63)

October 1,877 47.05 93

November 30,050 50.14 1,527

December 265 50.16 14

January 24,338 52.85 1,385

February (865) 52.87 (44)

March 49,663 55.33 2,897

March 31, 2015 109,900 55.33 6,081 
14.	Expenses

EUR 1,000
01.04.14-
31.03.15

01.04.13-
31.03.14

Management and administration fees (Note 16) 3,747 3,646

Performance fees (Note 16) 2,549 2,240

Corporate expenses 1,082 1,002

Transaction expenses 84 155

Total expenses 7,462 7,043 
15.	Contingent liabilities and commitments

Contingent liabilities

On December 9, 2010, the Group amended and restated the management agreement with ALPHA Associates (Cayman), L.P. 
The restated agreement came into force on April 1, 2012 (refer to Note 16). It can be terminated as of March 31, 2018 or any 
subsequent termination date by giving timely notice. If the agreement was to be terminated prior to March 31, 2018 or any 
subsequent termination date for a reason other than a default of the Investment Manager or a distribution exceeding 5% of 
the Group’s total net asset value is made in any one financial year, the Group shall pay the Investment Manager the respec-
tive amount of fees which the Investment Manager would otherwise have earned in the period from the date of termination 
or excess distribution to the next termination date. In case of termination of the agreement for a reason other than a default, 
the Investment Manager shall have the right, for a period of 10 years from the date of termination, to receive payment of any 
performance fee that would have been payable to the Investment Manager following the date of termination on the portfolio 
held as of the date of termination, had the agreement not been terminated. 

Commitments

Along with the commitments to invest as disclosed in Note 8, distributions in the total amount of EUR 13.3 million are recall-
able from several funds as of March 31, 2015 (March 31, 2014: EUR 13.3 million). As the investment period of most of these 
funds has already expired, recallable distributions can in general only be recycled for follow-on investments and are there-
fore not expected to be drawn in full. In certain circumstances capital calls can exceed total commitment mainly due to pay-
ment of management fees to investee fund managers, short-term borrowings or reinvestment by investee funds.
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Legal proceedings

As of March 31, 2015, the Group was not engaged in any litigation proceedings which could have a material adverse effect 
on the financial situation of the Group (as of March 31, 2014: none).

Pledges

In connection with a standard banking relationship with Credit Suisse AG, the Group signed a general pledge agreement in 
favour of the bank. 

The credit facility with Credit Suisse AG, if and when drawn, is secured by the Company’s ownership interest in Private Equity 
Holding Cayman (refer to Note 12).

Tax legislation

The Board of Directors and the Delegate are not aware of any situations that might be challenged by the tax authorities in the 
countries of incorporation of the Group’s entities.

16.	Related party transactions

The following parties are considered related to the Group as of March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014:

�� ALPHA Associates AG, Zurich

�� ALPHA Associates (Cayman), LP

�� Members of the Board of Directors of the Company and the Delegate of the Board

�� C+E Investment AG, Zurich (affiliate of the ALPHA Group and significant shareholder (see Note 13))

Pursuant to a management agreement dated April 1, 2004, as amended as of January 1, 2007 and on December 9, 2010 with 
effect from April 1, 2012, respectively, ALPHA Associates (Cayman), LP renders investment management and certain sup-
port services to the Group. The management fee is partially linked to the market capitalisation of the Company (1.5% * 75% * 
adjusted net assets plus 2% * 25% * market capitalisation plus 1% of the fair value of the direct portfolio). 

Funds managed by ALPHA Associates (Cayman), LP (i.e. ALPHA CEE II and ALPHA Russia & CIS Secondary) are excluded 
from the net asset value for the purpose of calculating the management fee.

The performance fee is 10% of the increase in shareholders’ equity (adjusted for distributions and treasury share transac-
tions) since April 1, 2004, subject to a 6% hurdle equity test (compounded annually) and a high watermark test.

The management agreement may be terminated by either party as of March 31, 2018 and runs for subsequent periods of three 
years unless notice of termination is given in a timely way. If a de facto termination event was to occur prior to any regular 
termination date for a reason other than a default of the Investment Manager or a distribution exceeding 5% of the Group’s 
total net asset value is made in any one financial year ending on or before the next termination date, the Investment Manager 
could claim liquidated damages equal to the amount of fees which the Investment Manager would otherwise have earned in 
the period from the date of de facto termination or excess distribution to the next regular termination date. In case of termina-
tion of the agreement for a reason other than a default, the Investment Manager shall have the right, for a period of 10 years 
from the date of termination, to receive trailing performance fees equal to the amount of performance fees that would have 
been payable to the Investment Manager following the date of termination on the portfolio held as of the date of termination 
as if the agreement had not been terminated, i.e., subject to the hurdle equity and high watermark test.

ALPHA Associates AG provides certain support services to the Company for an administration fee of CHF 125’000 per quarter 
(administration agreement dated April 1, 2004, as amended effective April 1, 2006).

EUR 1,000
01.04.14-
31.03.15

01.04.13-
31.03.14

Management and administration fees 3,747 3,646

Performance fees 2,549 2,240

Total 6,296 5,886 
Total management and administration fees and performance fees payable as of March 31, 2015 amounted to EUR 0.6 million 
(March 31, 2014: EUR 1.1 million).
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Total compensation of the Board of Directors amounted to EUR 226k for the financial year 2014/2015 (2013/2014: EUR 194k). The 
increase is due to the fact that one additional board member was elected at the Annual General Meeting held on July 4, 2014.

Total compensation of the Delegate of the Board of Directors amounted to EUR 64k for the financial year 2014/2015 (2013/2014: 
EUR 15k). The increase is due to the fact that the role of the Delegate of the Board of Directors was only established in the 
last quarter of the financial year 2013/2014.

There were no transactions between the Group and C+E Investment AG in the financial year 2014/2015 (2013/2014: None). 

The Board of Directors, the Delegate of the Board and the Investment Manager are the key management functions of the 
Group.

17.	Tax expenses

Reconciliation of income tax calculated with the applicable tax rate:

EUR 1,000
01.04.14-
31.03.15

01.04.13-
31.03.14

Profit/(loss) for the year 22,936 20,163

Applicable tax rate 7.8% 7.8%

Expected income tax expense 1,789 1,573

Effect from non-taxable income (1,789) (1,573)

Total income tax for the year — — 
As of March 31, 2015, the Company showed the following unrecognised tax loss carry forwards:

 EUR 1,000 Expiry date

Loss from financial year 2008/2009 7,831 31.03.2016

Total tax loss carry forwards 7,831   
As of March 31, 2014 the unrecognised tax loss carry forwards amounted to EUR 29,837k.

18.	Subsequent events

On April 9, 2015, the Group completed a follow-on investment in Aston Martin in the amount of EUR 1.7 million (GBP 1.2 
million). 50% of the amount was funded on April 21, 2015, the remaining amount will be called on or before April 30, 2016.

On April 17, 2015, the Group received confirmation of a USD 5.0 million commitment in Pelion VI.

There are no other subsequent events which could have a material impact on these consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Income Statement of Private Equity Holding AG

CHF 1,000 Notes
01.04.14-
31.03.15

01.04.13-
31.03.14

Income    

Reversed impairment 4 39,636 29,162

Capital gains/(losses) on financial investments  143 (1,521)

Capital gains/(losses) on treasury shares  (832) (3,357)

Other income  18 —

Foreign exchange gains  — 1,705

Total income  38,965 25,989

    

    

Expenses    

Administration expense  505 500

Corporate expense  1,451 1,033

Transaction expense  8 19

Provision for guarantee to subsidiary 1, 6 — 1,535

Interest expense  1,886 1,237

Foreign exchange losses 9 46,572 —

Total expenses  50,422 4,324

Profit/(loss) for the period  (11,457) 21,665 
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Balance Sheet of Private Equity Holding AG

CHF 1,000 Notes 31.03.15 31.03.14

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  88 195

Treasury shares 3 6,759 13,439

Receivables from group companies  — 4

Receivables from third parties  47 62

Prepayments and accrued income  116 91

Total current assets  7,010 13,791

Non-current assets    

Financial investments  4,493 2,030

Subsidiaries 1 348,188 365,449

Total non-current assets  352,681 367,479

Total assets  359,691 381,270

    

    

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity    

Current liabilities    

Payables to group companies  126,897 70,688

Payables to third parties  7 563

Provision for guarantee to subsidiary 1, 6 — 39,911

Accrued expenses  105 129

Total current liabilities  127,009 111,291

Non-current liabilities    

Total non-current liabilities  — —

Total liabilities  127,009 111,291

Shareholders’ equity    

Share capital paid in 2 18,600 20,550

Legal reserves from capital contributions:    

  (thereof general reserves)  109,839 117,494

  (thereof reserves for treasury shares)  6,346 8,101

Other legal reserves:    

  (thereof general reserves)  1,729 1,729

  (thereof reserves for treasury shares)  — 6,960

Free reserves  2,130 4,381

Retained earnings 10 94,038 110,764

Total shareholders’ equity  232,682 269,979

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  359,691 381,270 
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Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity of Private Equity Holding AG

  
Legal reserves from 

capital contributions 
Other legal 

reserves    

CHF 1,000
Share 

capital
General 

reserves
Reserves for  

treasury shares
General 

reserves
Reserves for 

treasury shares
Free 

reserves
Retained 
earnings Total

Opening as of 01.04.13 22,800 131,407 18,531 1,729 — 2,131 96,059 272,657

Profit/(loss) for the period — — — — — — 21,665 21,665

Change in reserves for treasury shares — (6,344) 6,344 — 6,960 — (6,960) —

Cancellation of treasury shares (2,250) — (16,774) — — 2,250 — (16,774)

Repayment of paid-in capital — (7,569) — — — — — (7,569)

Total as of 31.03.14 20,550 117,494 8,101 1,729 6,960 4,381 110,764 269,979

         

         

Opening as of 01.04.14 20,550 117,494 8,101 1,729 6,960 4,381 110,764 269,979

Profit/(loss) for the period — — — — — — (11,457) (11,457)

Change in reserves for treasury shares — (4,121) 4,121 — 5,269 — (5,269) —

Cancellation of treasury shares (1,950) 694 (5,876) — (12,229) 1,256 — (18,105)

Repayment of paid-in capital — (7,735) — — — — — (7,735)

Reallocation to legal reserves from 
capital contributions1 — 3,507 — — — (3,507) — —

Total as of 31.03.15 18,600 109,839 6,346 1,729 — 2,130 94,038 232,682 
1Reallocation confirmed by the Swiss Federal Tax Administration FTA on November 18, 2014.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1.	Subsidiaries

 
Percentage of 

capital held
Nominal value

CHF 1,000

Book value
31.03.15

CHF 1,000

Book value
31.03.14

CHF 1,000

Private Equity Holding Cayman, Cayman Islands 100% 1,100,000 348,188 365,449

Private Equity Holding (Luxembourg) SA, Luxembourg1 — — — —

Total   348,188 365,449 
All of the above companies are investment companies. 

1 Private Equity Holding (Luxembourg) SA was liquidated as of March 2, 2015. Prior to the liquidation, all assets (incl. 100% of the shares in Private Eq-
uity Holding (Netherlands) BV) and liabilities of Private Equity Holding (Luxembourg) SA were transferred to Private Equity Holding AG. Private Equity 
Holding (Netherlands) BV was liquidated as of March 27, 2015. Prior to the liquidation, all assets and liabilities of Private Equity Holding (Netherlands) 
BV were transferred to Private Equity Holding AG. Private Equity Holding AG has consequently taken over all the liabilities of its former subsidiaries 
Private Equity Holding (Luxembourg) SA and Private Equity Holding (Netherlands) BV against Private Equity Holding Cayman. 

2.	Share capital

 31.03.15 31.03.14

Number of shares authorised and issued 3,100,000 3,425,000

Par value per share (CHF) 6.00 6.00 
All shares have equal rights to vote and to receive dividends, as well as to share in the distribution of the net assets of the 
Company upon liquidation.

Authorised share capital

The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the share capital of the Company until July 3, 2016 by a maximum of CHF 
9,000,000 through the issue of a maximum of 1,500,000 nominal shares to be fully paid-in with a nominal value of CHF 6 each. 

Contingent share capital

The share capital of the Company may be increased by a maximum amount of CHF 9,000,000 through the issue of a maximum 
of 1,500,000 nominal shares to be fully paid-in with a nominal value of CHF 6 each, thereof a maximum amount of CHF 3,000,000 
through the exercise of option rights granted to shareholders and a maximum amount of CHF 6,000,000 through the exercise of 
conversion or option rights in connection with bonds or similar instruments that may be issued by the Company or its subsidiaries. 

3.	Treasury shares

 
Number of 

shares

Book value
31.03.15

CHF 1,000

Balance brought forward 229,720 13,439

Change (119,820) (6,680)

Balance as of March 31, 2015 109,900 6,759 
For additional disclosures in respect to treasury shares refer to Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements.

4.	Impairment

CHF 1,000 31.03.15 31.03.14

Impairment/(reversal) (39,636) (29,162)

Total (39,636) (29,162) 
During the year under review, the Company reversed impairments on its investment in Private Equity Holding Cayman in the 
amount of CHF 39.6 million.
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5.	�Shareholders with shares and voting rights of 3% and more

As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, the following major shareholders were known to the Company:

Holding in % of share capital 31.03.15 31.03.14

Between 3% and 5% Bernhard Schürmann (Langnau am Albis)

Private Equity Holding (Zug)  
(registered without voting rights)

Bernhard Schürmann (Langnau am Albis)

Mantra Investissement SCA (Paris, France)

Between 5% and 10% Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Adliswil) Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Adliswil)

Robert Knapp (Boston, USA), prior disclosed as 
Ironsides Partners Opportunity Master Fund L.P. 
(Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands)1 

Private Equity Holding AG (Zug)  
(registered without voting rights)

Between 10% and 15% — Asset Value Investors (London, UK; incl. British 
Empire Securities and General Trust Plc)2 

Between 15% and 20% Asset Value Investors (London, UK;  
incl. British Empire Securities and  
General Trust Plc)2 

—

Between 20% and 25% — ALPHA Associates Group (Zurich)3

Between 25% and 33.33% ALPHA Associates Group (Zurich)3 — 
1 Robert Knapp / Ironsides Partners updated the respective disclosure notification in August 2013 replacing the original one.
2 British Empire Securities and General Trust PlC disclosed a shareholding above 5% on April 1, 2014, which had prior been disclosed as part of Asset 	
	 Value Investors. 
3 The ALPHA Associates Group is represented by ALPHA Associates AG, C+E Investment AG, Dr. Peter Derendinger, Dr. Petra Salesny, Petr Rojicek 	
   and Christoph Huber.

6.	Pledged assets and guarantees

Pledged assets

On December 20, 2013, the Company signed an agreement with Credit Suisse AG for a EUR 16.0 million revolving credit facil-
ity. The credit facility, if and when drawn, is secured by the Company’s ownership interest in Private Equity Holding Cayman 
(see Note 12 of the consolidated financial statements).

As of March 31, 2015, the credit facility was undrawn (March 31, 2014: undrawn). 

Guarantees

In course of the liquidation of Private Equity Holding (Netherlands) BV, Private Equity Holding AG has taken over all its assets 
and liabilities. The guarantee issued on October 14, 2013 in favour of Private Equity Holding (Netherlands) BV has conse-
quently been terminated (see Note 1).

7.	�Management compensation in accordance with Art. 663b Swiss Code of Obligations

2014/2015

CHF
Base compensation 

(Cash)
Base compensation 

(Shares)
Other compensation 

(Social security) Total

Board of Directors     

Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Chairman) 37,500 37,500 4,616 79,616

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner 25,000 25,000 3,126 53,126

Martin Eberhard 25,000 25,000 3,126 53,126

Bernhard Schürmann 25,000 25,000 1,710 51,710

Paul Garnett (from July 4, 2014) 37,500 — — 37,500

Total 150,000 112,500 12,578 275,078 
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2013/2014

CHF
Base compensation 

(Cash)
Base compensation 

(Shares)
Other compensation 

(Social security) Total

Board of Directors     

Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Chairman) 37,500 37,500 4,688 79,688

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner 25,000 25,000 3,126 53,126

Martin Eberhard — 50,000 3,126 53,126

Bernhard Schürmann 25,000 25,000 1,710 51,710

Arnaud Studer (until July 4, 2013) 18,750 18,750 — 37,500

Total 106,250 156,250 12,649 275,149 
2014/2015

CHF
Base compensation  

(Cash)
Base compensation  

(Shares)
Other compensation  

(Social security) Total

Delegate of the Board of Directors     

Dr. Hans Baumgartner 37,500 37,500 4,616 79,616

Total 37,500 37,500 4,616 79,616 
2013/2014

CHF
Base compensation  

(Cash)
Base compensation  

(Shares)
Other compensation  

(Social security) Total

Delegate of the Board of Directors     

Dr. Hans Baumgartner 9,375 9,375 1,172 19,922

Total 9,375 9,375 1,172 19,922 
No guarantees, loans, advances or credits were granted to any member of the Board of Directors or to the Delegate of the 
Board of Directors in the period under review (prior period: none).

Private Equity Holding AG does not have an Advisory Board.

The Company’s share of social security contributions is shown under other compensation.

During the period under review, Private Equity Holding AG did not pay any direct or indirect compensation or allocate any 
shares or options to former members of governing bodies (prior period: none).

During the period under review, no compensations that are not customary in the market were paid directly or indirectly to 
persons, who are close to members of governing bodies or close to former members of governing bodies (prior period: none).
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8.	�Management share ownership in accordance with Art. 663c Swiss Code of Obligations

    

March 31, 2015
Share  

ownership Options Total

Board of Directors    

Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Chairman and Delegate) 210,204 — 210,204

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner 6,156 — 6,156

Martin Eberhard 40,422 — 40,422

Bernhard Schürmann 110,552 — 110,552

Paul Garnett — — —

Total 367,334 — 367,334

Investment Manager (ALPHA Associates Group)    

Dr. Peter Derendinger 140,453 — 140,453

Dr. Petra Salesny 50,737 — 50,737

Petr Rojicek 52,752 — 52,752

C+E Investment AG and Christoph Huber 572,307 — 572,307

Total 816,249 — 816,249 
    

March 31, 2014
Share  

ownership Options Total

Board of Directors    

Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Chairman and Delegate) 204,345 — 204,345

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner 5,748 — 5,748

Martin Eberhard 28,053 — 28,053

Bernhard Schürmann 107,144 — 107,144

Total 345,290 — 345,290

Investment Manager (ALPHA Associates Group)    

Dr. Peter Derendinger 137,453 — 137,453

Dr. Petra Salesny 50,737 — 50,737

Petr Rojicek 52,752 — 52,752

C+E Investment AG and Christoph Huber 572,307 — 572,307

Total 813,249 — 813,249 
9.	�Foreign exchange losses due to conversion into presentation currency
The foreign exchange losses recorded in the income statement mainly result from the translation of the financial statements 
from EUR (which is the functional currency of the Company) into the presentation currency CHF. Assets and liabilities are con-
verted into CHF with the period-end EUR/CHF exchange rate, which was 1.0436 as of March 31, 2015 (March 31, 2014: 1.2182) 
whereas equity positions (excl. profit/(loss) for the period) are converted at historical exchange rates. The income statement 
is converted at the average exchange rate for the financial year which was 1.1779 for 2014/2015 (2013/2014: 1.2292). The high 
volatility of the EUR/CHF exchange rate in the financial year 2014/2015, which led to the significant foreign exchange losses in 
course of the conversion of the financial statements into the presentation currency, was mainly due to the fact that the Swiss 
National Bank (SNB) decided on January 15, 2015 to stop supporting the minimum EUR/CHF exchange rate of CHF 1.20 per EUR.

10.	Risk assessment

Private Equity Holding AG runs a centralised risk management system which separates strategic risks from operative ones. 
This risk schedule is the objective of an annual detailed discussion process in the group’s Board of Directors. The permanent 
observation and control of the risks is a management objective.

For identified risks, which arise from the accounting and financial reporting, a risk assessment is performed. Throughout the 
Internal Control System framework on financial reporting relevant control measures are defined, which reduce the financial 
risk. Remaining risks are categorised depending on their possible impact (low, average, high) and appropriately monitored.
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11.	Appropriation of available earnings

  

CHF 1,000  

Profit/(loss) for the period (11,457)

Retained earnings 105,495

Reallocation from legal reserves from capital contributions to free reserves1 8,525

At the disposal of the Annual General Meeting 102,563 
1 The Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting to be held on July 3, 2015 is subject to the actual number of shares entitled to 
dividends at the time of dividend payment. Own shares held by Private Equity Holding AG are not entitled to dividends. 

The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend of CHF 2.75 is paid per registered share, which will be paid out of reserves 
from capital contributions. As a consequence, the dividend payment will be effected free of Swiss withholding tax for Swiss 
residents. 

CHF 1,000  

At the disposal of the Annual General Meeting 102,563

Dividend payment out of free reserves1 (8,525)

To be carried forward 94,038 
1 The Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting to be held on July 3, 2015 is subject to the actual number of shares entitled to 
dividends at the time of dividend payment. Own shares held by Private Equity Holding AG are not entitled to dividends. 
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements
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Corporate Governance
Private Equity Holding AG is committed to good corporate governance and transparency and accountability to its shareholders. 
The following disclosure follows the structure and is in accordance with the latest Directive on Information relating to Corporate 
Governance of the SIX Swiss Exchange of September 1, 2014 (in force since October 1, 2014).

1. Group structure and shareholders

1.1 Group structure

1.1.1 Operational group structure

The structure of Private Equity Holding AG (“PEH” or the “Company”), its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) and service 
providers as of March 31, 2015 is depicted in the following diagram:
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1.1.2 Listed company

The only listed company in the Group is Private Equity Holding AG. PEH is a stock company incorporated under Swiss law 
with its registered office at Gotthardstrasse 28, 6304 Zug. The Company is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange under Swiss 
security number 608 992 as well as the ISIN code CH 000 608 9921 (short code PEHN).

The market capitalisation of the Company (based on total number of shares: 3,100,000) as of March 31, 2015 is EUR 182.7 mil-
lion (CHF 190.7 million). 
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As of March 31, 2015, PEH held 109,900 of its shares in treasury (3.55% of the total issued share capital). The subsidiaries do 
not hold any shares in the parent company.

1.1.3 Non-listed companies in the Group

All subsidiaries of the Company are non-listed holding companies owned 100%, either directly or indirectly, by the Company. 
For the names of the subsidiaries, their domiciles and their share capital, please see Note 3 (Principles of consolidation) to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report.

1.2 Significant shareholders

As of March 31, 2015, the following major shareholders were known to the Company:

Holding in % of share capital 31.03.15 31.03.14

Between 3% and 5% Bernhard Schürmann (Langnau am Albis)

Private Equity Holding (Zug)  
(registered without voting rights)

Bernhard Schürmann (Langnau am Albis)

Mantra Investissement SCA (Paris, France)

Between 5% and 10% Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Adliswil) Dr. Hans Baumgartner (Adliswil)

Robert Knapp (Boston, USA), prior disclosed as 
Ironsides Partners Opportunity Master Fund L.P. 
(Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands)1 

Private Equity Holding AG (Zug)  
(registered without voting rights)

Between 10% and 15% — Asset Value Investors (London, UK; incl. British 
Empire Securities and General Trust Plc)2 

Between 15% and 20% Asset Value Investors (London, UK;  
incl. British Empire Securities and  
General Trust Plc)2 

—

Between 20% and 25% — ALPHA Associates Group (Zurich)3

Between 25% and 33.33% ALPHA Associates Group (Zurich)3 — 
1	 Robert Knapp / Ironsides Partners updated the respective disclosure notification in August 2013 replacing the original one.
2	 British Empire Securities and General Trust Plc disclosed a shareholding above 5% on April 1, 2014, which had previously been disclosed as part  
	 of Asset Value Investors.
3	 The ALPHA Associates Group is represented by ALPHA Associates AG, C+E Investment AG, Dr. Peter Derendinger, Dr. Petra Salesny, Petr Rojicek  
	 and Christoph Huber.

All changes in the Company’s shareholder base that were reported and disclosed in accordance with Art. 9 and Art. 21 of 
the Stock Exchange Ordinance-FINMA (SESTO-FINMA) during the financial year 2014/2015 as well as any updates on share-
holdings reported thereafter can be obtained from the SIX website at: http://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/obligations/
disclosure/major_shareholders_de.html.

1.3 Cross-shareholdings

There are no cross-shareholdings.
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2. Capital structure

2.1 Capital

Private Equity Holding AG has an issued ordinary share capital of CHF 18.6 million, divided into 3,100,000 registered shares 
with a nominal value of CHF 6 per share. All shares are fully paid-in.

2.2 Authorised and contingent capital

The 2014 Annual General Meeting approved the creation of new authorised and also contingent capital.

The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the share capital of the Company by CHF 9.0 million anytime until July 3, 2016, 
by issuing a maximum of 1,500,000 registered shares to be fully paid in and having a nominal value of CHF 6 each. Increases 
by firm underwriting as well as partial increases are authorised. The respective amount to be issued, the time of entitlement 
to dividends and the type of contribution will be determined by the Board of Directors. For further details, please refer to Art. 
3a of the Articles of Association.

Further, the share capital of the Company may be increased by a maximum of CHF 9.0 million by issuing a maximum of 
1,500,000 registered shares to be fully paid-in and having a nominal value of CHF 6 each, of which (a) up to CHF 3.0 million as a 
result of the exercise of option rights granted to existing shareholders and (b) up to CHF 6.0 million as a result of the exercise 
of option or conversion rights granted in connection with bond issues or other financial market instruments by the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries. For further details, specifically the exclusion of subscription rights, please refer to Art. 3b of the 
Articles of Association.

2.3 Changes in capital since March 31, 2011

Since March 31, 2012, the Company’s and the Group’s equity capital have developed as follows:

31.03.12 31.03.13 31.03.14 31.03.2015

Share capital (CHF 1,000) 22,800 22,800 20,550 18,600

Total equity PEH (CHF 1,000) 251,095 272,657 269,979 232,682

Total equity Group (EUR 1,000) 201,012 207,218 210,590 216,483

Please refer also to the Statements of Changes in Equity (consolidated and parent company).

The 2012 Annual General Meeting decided on a repayment of share premium (paid-in capital) in the amount of CHF 2 per 
outstanding share (no repayment of share premium was made on treasury shares).

The 2013 Annual General Meeting approved a capital decrease by cancelling 375’000 shares, which had been purchased by 
the Company on the SIX stock exchange in prior years and, accordingly, the nominal share capital was reduced from CHF 
22,800,000 to CHF 20’550’000. Furthermore, the 2013 Annual General Meeting decided on a repayment of share premium (paid-
in capital) in the amount of CHF 2.25 per outstanding share (no repayment of share premium was made on treasury shares).

The 2014 Annual General Meeting approved a capital decrease by cancelling 325’000 shares, which had been purchased by 
the Company on the SIX stock exchange in prior years and, accordingly, the nominal share capital was reduced from CHF 
20,550,000 to CHF 18’600’000. In addition, the 2014 Annual General Meeting decided on a repayment of share premium (paid-
in capital) in the amount of CHF 2.50 per outstanding share (no repayment of share premium was made on treasury shares). 
Further, the 2014 Annual General Meeting approved the creation of new authorised and also contingent capital giving the 
Company increased flexibility and enabling the Company to benefit from market opportunities when they arise. Please see 
also section 2.2 above.

Private Equity Holding AG has an issued share capital of CHF 18.600 million (EUR 11.624 million, converted at historical ex-
change rate), divided into 3,100,000 fully paid-up registered shares with a par value of CHF 6 each. Each share, if and when 
registered in the Company’s register of shareholders, carries one vote and all shares enjoy the same dividend rights in ac-
cordance with Swiss law. There are no preferential rights of any nature attached to any of the shares.

2.4 Shares and participation certificates

The Company has not issued any participation certificates.

2.5 Dividend-right certificates

The Company has not issued any profit sharing certificates (Genussscheine).
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2.6 Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations

There are no transfer restrictions whatsoever. There are no restrictions on nominee registrations.

2.7 Convertible bonds and warrants/options

No convertible bonds, warrants or options to purchase shares have been issued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 
The Group has no employees, and no employee stock option plan is in place.

3. Board of Directors

3.1 Members

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Board of Directors consists of at least three members. At the end of 
the financial year 2014/2015, the Board of Directors was composed as follows:

Dr. Hans Baumgartner, Chairman and Delegate, 1954, Swiss citizen

Dr. Hans Baumgartner is an attorney-at-law in Zurich. He graduated from the University of Zurich in 1978 with a degree in 
law and obtained a PhD in 1990. He also holds an LL.M. from the European Institute of the University of Zurich in banking 
and insurance law. From 1981 until 1992, Dr. Hans Baumgartner was district attorney in Zurich, from 1986 he specialised in 
economic crime. In 1992 he became judge at the District Court of Zurich. Since 1994, Dr. Hans Baumgartner works as an in-
dependent attorney-at-law in Zurich. He is Senior Partner at the law office Baumgartner Mächler. In addition, he has been a 
judge at the Military Court of Appeals from 1988 to 2004. He also serves as Chairman of miniswys AG, a technology company 
in Biel and is a director of several private companies.

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner, Member, 1951, Swiss citizen

Dr. Chris Tanner is CFO and a member of the board of directors of Cosmo Pharmaceuticals SA, Luxembourg (SIX:COPN), a 
member of the board and head of audit committee of DKSH AG (SIX:DKSH) and on the advisory board of Joimax GmbH, Karl-
sruhe, a market leader in endoscopy based back surgery, member of the Board of Qvanteq AG, Zuerich, a med tech company 
involved in the development of surfaces for stents. He graduated from the University of St. Gallen in 1975 with a degree in 
economics and completed his PhD in 1979. Dr. Chris Tanner joined UBS in 1977, where he worked on different assignments in 
Zurich, Madrid and Los Angeles. In 1987 he became a member of the Global Credit Committee and in 1988 Head of Corporate 
Banking for Australia, Asia and Africa and subsequently Southern Europe. In 1992 he became Head of Corporate Finance & 
Capital Markets in Zurich and in 1996 additionally Head of the UBS European Investment Banking Origination and Industry 
Teams in London. From 1999 to 2002, Dr. Chris Tanner was a Managing Partner at A&A Investment Management. He also co-
founded and was an active board member of 20 Minuten Holding AG and 20 Minuten Schweiz AG.

Martin Eberhard, Member, 1958, Swiss citizen

Martin Eberhard works as an entrepreneur specialising in project financing. From 2000 until 2009 Martin Eberhard served as 
founder and CEO of Neue Zürcher Bank. Prior, Mr. Eberhard held various senior positions at Bank Julius Baer, Zurich; in 1996 
he became a Member of the Management Board and in 1998 a member of the Executive Board Brokerage Europe. Before join-
ing Julius Baer he finished his studies and worked for Swiss Bank Corporation in Zurich, Geneva and New York. Mr. Eberhard 
completed the Swiss Banking School and an Advanced Executive Program at Kellogg Graduate School of Management, USA.

Bernhard Schürmann, Member, 1947, Swiss citizen

Since 1997 Bernhard Schürmann is an independent asset manager and Senior Partner at a Zurich-based investment com-
pany. Prior, Bernhard Schürmann worked for Bank Cantrade for 10 years as a Director for Client Relationship Manage-
ment and in the same capacity for 10 years at Privatbank und Verwaltungsgesellschaft, Zurich. During this period, Bernhard 
Schürmann also led the listed company Allgemeine Finanzgesellschaft for seven years as a Managing Director. Bernhard 
Schürmann studied economics at the University of Zurich (lic. oec. publ.). Following his education, he spent a year in the USA 
working for several banks and brokers.

Paul Garnett, Member, 1971, British citizen

Paul Garnett is a Director of Ironsides Partners UK Limited. Paul has over 20 years’ experience in closed end funds. Paul 
began his career in 1992 and spent 9 years covering closed end funds with Credit Lyonnais and latterly Merrill Lynch, which 
included a period based in the US. Paul joined Millennium Partners in 2006 and was founding member of Ironsides Partners 
in 2010 where he is a portfolio manager responsible for an event driven strategy with particular emphasis on closed end 
funds and alternative asset classes. Paul holds a first class degree in Banking and International Finance from City University.

Apart from Dr. Hans Baumgartner in his capacity as Delegate of the Board of Directors, none of the Directors has had an 
operational role within the Company in the three financial years prior to the reporting period. 

None of the Directors have significant business relationships with Private Equity Holding AG or any of its subsidiaries.



65  |  Annual Report as of March 31, 2015

3.2 Other activities and vested interests

Please refer to the CVs in section 3.1 above.

3.3 Statutory limits on other activites

The Directors are not allowed to carry out more than 10 other madates, of which not more than 5 in companies publicly listed 
on a stock exchange. Please refer to article 17 of the Articles of Association.

3.4 Elections and terms of office

According to Art. 17 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the members of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, the members of the Compensation Committee as well as the independent proxy (Art. 13a) are elected 
by the shareholders of the Company for a term of one year, ending with the end of the subsequent Annual General Meeting. 
Directors may be re-elected for one or more subsequent periods. Directors may be dismissed by shareholders’ vote or resign 
before the end of their term.

The terms of office of the Board of Directors are as follows:

Name Function Date of first election to Board Expiration of term

Dr. Hans Baumgartner Chairman & Delegate December 7, 2006 Annual General Meeting 2015

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner Member December 7, 2006 Annual General Meeting 2015

Martin Eberhard Member June 24, 2010 Annual General Meeting 2015

Bernhard Schürmann Member June 14, 2011 Annual General Meeting 2015

Paul Garnett Member July 4, 2014 Annual General Meeting 2015

This Board of Directors has been elected at the Annual General Meeting of Private Equity Holding AG on July 4, 2014.

3.5 Internal organisational structure

3.5.1 Allocation of tasks within the Board of Directors

The tasks within the Board of Directors are allocated as follows:

Name Function Tasks and main focus

Dr. Hans Baumgartner Chairman & Delegate Day-to-day management

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner Member Regular contact with ALPHA’s CFO

Martin Eberhard Member Investor relations, banking specialist

Bernhard Schürmann Member Investor relations, banking specialist

Paul Garnett Member Closed-end fund specialist

The Board of Directors is responsible for the ultimate direction, supervision and control of the Company and the Group’s 
investment manager and administrator. The core tasks of the Board of Directors according to the Swiss Code of Obligations 
(“CO”) and the regulations of Private Equity Holding AG are:

�� Organisational regulations

�� Investment strategy and asset allocation

�� Strategic & financial planning

�� Overall supervision

�� Relationship with shareholders

3.5.2 Composition and tasks of the Compensation Committee

At the Annual General Meeting 2014, the shareholders elected Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner, Martin Eberhard and Bernhard 
Schürmann to the Compensation Committee. The members of the Committee elected Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner as Chairper-
son of the Committee.
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The compensation committee supports the Board of Directors in the determination and implementation of the guidelines and 
rules for the Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors and the Delegate of the Board and prepares all board 
matters referring to Compensation. In particular, the Committee approves, within the total compensation limits as approved 
by the shareholders, the compensation of the individual members of the Board (including the Chairman) and the Delegate of 
the Board (please also refer to the Compensation Report).

3.5.3 Mode of operation of the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee

The Board of Directors convenes whenever business requires, but at least four times a year, and resolves all matters by 
majority vote in the presence of a majority of its members. In the financial year 2014/2015, the Board of Directors held six 
meetings.

Meetings are convened by the Chairman or upon the request of a member of the Board. Board members may participate in 
person or by telephone. Unless a member of the Board requests otherwise, decisions may be taken by circular resolution. 
Matters resolved by circular resolution require unanimity.

The Compensation Committee also convenes whenever business requires and resolves all matters by majority vote. Deci-
sions may be taken by circular resolution. 

The Board of Directors delegated the management of PEH’s portfolio to ALPHA Associates AG (“ALPHA”) and ALPHA As-
sociates Cayman, LP (“ALPHAC”), which in turn is advised by ALPHA’s private equity specialists in Zurich (“ALPHA”, together 
“ALPHA Group”). 

The Delegate of the Board, with the support of ALPHA, prepares all matters to be handled by the Board and implements the 
Board’s resolutions. The Board of Directors retains its primary, inalienable and non-transferable responsibilities according 
to Art. 716a CO and monitors all financial and operational matters of the Company, thereby maintaining a close working re-
lationship with ALPHA.

The competencies of the Board of Directors, the Delegate of the Board, ALPHA and ALPHAC are set forth in the Organisa-
tional Regulations issued by the Board of Directors.

3.6 Definition of areas of responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for all tasks allocated to it by Swiss Law, but has delegated certain matters to its Del-
egate and ALPHA and ALPHAC, respectively (as described in section 3.5.3 above).

3.7 Information and control instruments vis-à-vis the investment manager

The management of ALPHA works closely with the Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors, who meets with AL-
PHA’s senior staff as business requires discussing portfolio matters. The management team of ALPHA is in attendance at all 
meetings of the Board of Directors. ALPHA further issues monthly reports to the Board of Directors of the Company including 
balance sheet, income statement, cash-flow planning and fair value development per investment. Detailed investment, finan-
cial and performance data is recorded and maintained by ALPHA Group, as investment manager, in a customised IT database 
and monitoring tool. Extracts are made available to the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

4. Management

4.1 Management Board

The Company has no employees and no Management Board. The Delegate of the Board of Directors is responsible for the 
day-to-day management of the Company. Please see section 3.1. above for the detailed CV of Dr. Hans Baumgartner.

4.2 Other activities and vested interests

Not applicable, as the Company has no employees and no Management Board.

4.3 Statutory limits on other activities

The Directors are not allowed to carry out more than 10 other madates, of which not more than 5 in companies publicly listed 
on a stock exchange. Please refer to article 17 of the Articles of Association. 

4.4 Investment Management Contract

Since April 1, 2004, ALPHA Group provides investment management services and supports the Delegate of the Board with 
day-to-day administration services. For the terms of the agreements between PEH and its subsidiaries and ALPHA Group, 
please refer to Note 16 (Related party transactions) to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report.
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4.4.1 Administration Services

ALPHA supports the Delegate of the Board in providing administration support services to PEH for an annual fee of  
CHF 500,000 (excl. VAT). Administration services include accounting, corporate, legal and regulatory services and investor 
relations.

4.4.2 Investment Management Services

Investment management services are performed by ALPHAC in the Cayman Islands and include asset allocation, investment 
advice, the selection, execution and divestment of private equity fund and direct investments in accordance with the Com-
pany’s investment strategy, cash management, arrangement of banking services, and all administrative and financial tasks 
of the Cayman Islands companies of the Group. ALPHA provides investment advisory services to ALPHAC. Such services 
include research, the identification and evaluation of investment opportunities, the monitoring of portfolio investments and 
the evaluation and presentation to the investment manager of potential exit strategies from investments.

4.4.3 Description of ALPHA Group

ALPHAC is a Cayman Islands limited partnership controlled by ALPHA and employs local professionals with knowledge and 
experience in accounting, financial management and investment management. ALPHA is a company incorporated under Swiss 
law with its registered office in Zurich. ALPHA is a fully independent private equity manager owned by the senior members of 
its team and a FINMA authorised asset manager of collective investment schemes. The ALPHA Group manages and advises 
various private equity investment programs including 5E Holding Group, an investment company investing in private equity 
funds and companies in Central and Eastern Europe, its successor funds ALPHA CEE II L.P. and ALPHA CEE II (Ins.) L.P., ALPHA 
2001, L.P., a fund-of-funds investing worldwide in a diversified private equity fund portfolio, ALPHA Russia & CIS Secondary L.P., 
a fund-of-funds investing in secondary opportunities in Russia and other former CIS countries and Private Equity Holding AG.

ALPHA’s Management Team is composed as follows:

Dr. Peter Derendinger, Partner, CEO and CRO; Dr. iur., LL.M., attorney-at-law; 13-year career at Credit Suisse as General 
Counsel, Head Corporate Center and CFO Private Banking; led the restructuring of Private Equity Holding AG in 2003; member 
of the Board of Directors of a number of non-listed financial institutions.

Petr Rojicek, Partner, CIO; Dipl.Ing., MBA; career in engineering and corporate finance, at UBS and Bank Vontobel; worked 
on corporate finance transactions since 1995; led, negotiated and executed many private equity investments in Western 
Europe, the US and Eastern Europe; serves on many advisory boards of private equity funds and as director of portfolio com-
panies; strong relationship network in the industry.

Dr. Petra Salesny, Partner, COO; Dr. iur, LL.M., admitted to the NY bar; career in law and M&A; active in private equity invest-
ing since 2001; due diligence, negotiation, structuring and execution of fund and direct investments and secondary acquisi-
tions; structuring, launch and marketing of new products and programs.

Katja Baur, Principal, CFO; M.Sc. University of Zurich, Swiss Certified Accountant; career at KPMG Audit Financial Services; 
was responsible for planning and execution of financial and regulatory audits of Swiss private banks, listed investment com-
panies in the alternative investments sector, hedge fund managers, securities dealers and asset managers.

For further information on ALPHA and its key staff please consult their website at www.alpha-associates.ch

5. Compensation, shareholdings and loans

5.1 Content and method of determining the compensation and share-ownership programs

The compensation awarded to the members of the Board of Directors is determined in accordance with the scope of activi-
ties and the responsibility and functions of the individual members and based on sector and market comparisons.  

Compensation of the Board of Directors of the Company is effected in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of 
Incorporation, in particular Art. 26. Compensation is fixed and does not contain any variable components dependent on the 
financial performance of the Company; further, the Company does not grant credits or loans to the Directors. While the Board 
of Directors is compensated in cash for all its duties, it may elect to be fully or partially paid in shares of the Company. In this 
case, shares are allotted at market price replacing the respective cash compensation. The Board of Directors decides on the 
timing of allotment, and may set lock-up periods for such shares.  

The Compensation Committee determined that the members of the Board of Directors shall be compensated as follows (pro-
rata when a mandate is not executed for a full year):
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Compensation CHF

Chairman 75,000 p.a.

Member 50,000 p.a.

Delegate (in addition to Chairman’s/Member’s compensation) 75,000 p.a.

The compensation is paid in two semi-annual instalments. The employer’s share of the AHV/ALV contribution is borne by 
the Company.

Travel and other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses related to the attendance of Board meetings are covered by the Com-
pany. Directors may furthermore be paid all other expenses properly incurred by them in connection with the business of 
the Company.

The Company does not grant any loans to or guarantees any liabilities of the members of the Board of Directors. None of the 
Directors is entitled to any special compensation upon departure.

For further information regarding the disclosure of compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors for the finan-
cial years 2014/2015 and 2013/2014, please refer to Note 7 to the Financial Statements of PEH AG (Management compensa-
tion) and the separate Compensation Report.

The management, administration and performance fee arrangements between the Company and its subsidiaries and ALPHA 
Group are set forth in an administrative services agreement and an investment management agreement, respectively; the 
calculation of the fees follows industry standards and is audited by the Group’s auditors.

For further information regarding the disclosure of administration, management and performance fees under the administra-
tion and management agreements between PEH and its subsidiaries with ALPHA and ALPHAC, please refer to Note 16 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (Related party transactions).

5.2 Statutory provisions on compensation and performance-based incentives in specific

The compensation paid to the Members and Chairman/Delegate of the Board of Directors is fixed and does not contain any 
variable components dependent on the financial performance of the Company.

6. Shareholders’ participation rights

6.1 Voting-rights and representation restrictions

There are no voting rights or representation restrictions in the Company’s Articles of Association. Each shareholder whose 
shares are registered in the Company’s register of shareholders is entitled to participate in the Company’s General Meetings 
and vote his or her shares at his or her discretion.

Instead of attending a meeting in person, a registered shareholder may appoint a proxy, who does not need to be a share-
holder. Shareholders may be represented by a specially designated independent shareholders’ representative (“unabhän-
giger Stimmrechtsvertreter”). Proxies must be in writing.

6.1.1 Restrictions on voting rights

Each share, if and when registered in the Company’s register of shareholders, carries one vote and all shares enjoy the same 
dividend rights in accordance with Swiss law. There are no preferential rights of any nature attached to any of the shares, 
neither any restrictions on voting.

6.1.2 Voting through shareholders’ representative

Shareholders may be represented by a specially designated independent shareholders’ representative (“unabhängiger 
Stimmrechtsvertreter”). Proxies must be given in writing or submitted through an electronic system. The invitation to the 
Annual General Meeting contains further information on this; please also refer to article 13a of the Company’s Articles of 
Association.

6.2 Statutory quorums

There are no statutory quorums in the Company’s Articles of Association. Except as provided for a limited number of impor-
tant decisions as set forth in Art. 704 CO, which require a qualified majority, the General Meeting adopts all resolutions with 
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a majority of the votes cast at the meeting; abstentions are not counted as votes cast. Voting is secret if so requested by one 
or more shareholders representing at least 5% of the represented shares or upon direction of the Chairman of the meeting.

6.3 Convocation of the General Meeting of shareholders

In accordance with Swiss company law and the Articles of Association, General Meetings of shareholders are convened by 
the Board of Directors or, if necessary, by the auditors of the Company. Ordinary General Meetings are convened annually 
within 6 months after financial year-end. Extraordinary General Meetings are convened upon resolution of the shareholders 
or the Board of Directors, upon request of the auditors, or upon written request to the Board of Directors by one or more 
shareholders holding an aggregate of at least 10% of the Company’s share capital.

Notice of General Meetings is given to the registered shareholders by letter at least 20 days prior to such meeting by the 
Board of Directors. The notice states the place and time of the meeting, the items on the agenda and the proposals of the 
Board of Directors with respect to each item and any items and proposals placed on the agenda by shareholders, the type 
of proof of ownership of shares and notice that the business report and auditors’ report are available for inspection by the 
shareholders at the registered office of the Company.

6.4 Inclusion of item on the agenda

Shareholders holding shares with an aggregate nominal value of at least CHF 1 million have the right to request in writing that 
a specific item be put on the agenda. Such requests have to be received by the Board of Directors 30 days prior to the Gen-
eral Meeting in writing. Proposals regarding items not included in the agenda may be admitted for discussion by shareholder 
resolution, but may be voted on only at the following General Meeting, except a motion for the calling of an Extraordinary 
General Meeting or a motion for a special audit. Proposals regarding items on the agenda may be made without prior request.

6.5 Inscriptions into the share register

Following the purchase of PEH shares on- or off-exchange, the purchaser (normally through its bank) may request that his or 
her shares shall be registered in the Company’s register of shareholders. The Company recognises only one holder per share. 
The register contains, i.a., the name and address of the registered shareholders.

Only shareholders registered in the company’s register of shareholder as of the cut-off date are entitled to attend and vote at 
General Meetings. The cut-off date for each meeting is the date on which the invitation for the General Meeting is mailed to 
the shareholders (Art. 6.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association). The dates of the Company’s General Meetings and the 
meeting invitations are published on its website for ease of reference.

7. Change of control and defense measures

7.1 Duty to make an offer

According to Art. 32 of the Swiss Stock Exchange Act (“SESTA”), any person, whether acting directly, indirectly or in concert 
with third parties, acquiring shares in a company established and listed in Switzerland, which shares when added to any 
shares already owned by such person exceed the threshold of 33 1/3% of the voting rights of the company, must offer to ac-
quire all listed shares of the company. This obligation does not apply if the shares have been acquired as a result of donation, 
succession or partition of an estate, by operation of matrimonial property law or through execution of a judgment.

Since the Annual General Meeting 2014, the Articles of Association of Private Equity Holding AG provide for a statutory “opt-
ing out” from Art. 32 SESTA in accordance with Art. 22 SESTA. Accordingly, the obligation described above does not apply. 
For further details please see article 6bis of the Company’s Articles of Association.

7.2 Clauses on changes of control

There are no specific clauses on change of control in the Company’s Articles of Association. In particular, neither the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors nor ALPHA Group are entitled to any additional compensation specifically as a result of any 
person acquiring control over the Company.

8. Auditors

8.1 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the Auditors

The auditors of the Company and the Group are KPMG AG, Zurich (“KPMG”). KPMG have been acting as statutory auditors 
and auditors of the consolidated accounts of the Company since June 25, 2009. The lead auditor (since June 25, 2009) on the 
mandate is Mr. Christoph Gröbli, Swiss Certified Accountant. The rotation interval that applies to the lead auditor is the statu-
tory maximum of seven years, according to Art. 730a par. 2 of the Swiss Code of Obligations.
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The auditors are elected by the Annual General Meeting for the term of one year, which ends with the date of the next Annual 
General Meeting. Re-election is possible (Art. 27 of the Company’s Articles of Association).

8.2 Audit fees

The audit fees to KPMG in the financial year ending March 31, 2015 amounted to CHF 130,000 (incl. VAT) for the audit of the 
statutory and consolidated financial statements of the Company. In addition, CHF 10,800 (incl. VAT) were paid for the report 
on the capital reduction in 2014.

CHF 8,640 (incl. VAT) were paid for the mandatory audit ensuring compliance with the anti-money laundering act.

8.3 Additional fees

The Company paid additional fees to KPMG for audit-related services (advisory services) on accounting standards in connec-
tion with the quarterly financial statements of CHF 15,000 (incl. VAT) and for tax-related advisory services CHF 36,664 (incl. VAT). 

8.4 Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit

The Board of Directors and ALPHA provide the auditors with all the necessary information in connection with the audit and 
the financial statements, which are prepared by ALPHA and ALPHAC, respectively.

The auditors are updated on the decisions that have been taken in the meetings of the Board of Directors and review the 
relevant documents on a regular basis. The auditors also keep the Board of Directors regularly informed about the audit pro-
cess. Information is exchanged, as the case may be, by way of written communication, telephone conferences or in private 
sessions.

The Board of Directors and the auditors meet at least once a year to discuss the audit services provided by the auditors dur-
ing the year as well as the annual financial statements. The Board of Directors also assesses the adequacy of the auditors’ 
fees by examining the fees of the previous year and the expected fees for the current business year. Moreover, it assesses 
the independence of the auditors as well as the audit plan for the next audit period.

The auditors inform the Board of Directors once a year about their findings regarding the Company’s and ALPHA’s Internal 
Control System.

9. Information policy

The Group reports on its financial performance on a quarterly basis. The Company’s financial year ends on March 31. The 
annual result is stated both on a consolidated basis and for the Company as a stand-alone entity. The year-end figures are 
audited.

The Group prepares quarterly reports and publishes them in full on the Company’s website www.peh.ch.
The net asset value per PEH share and additional key information are published on a monthly basis, normally within six work-
ing days of the end of each month.

In between the quarterly report publications, all relevant information (including information subject to ad-hoc publicity ac-
cording to sec. 53 of the listing rules) is published in the form of news releases, which are available on the Company’s website.

Information about the actual and historical prices of the Company’s shares, which are listed under short code PEHN on the 
SIX Swiss Exchange, can be obtained free of charge under the following links:

http://www.six-swiss-exchange.com or http://www.peh.ch

Shareholders and other interested parties may subscribe to press releases at www.peh.ch to receive information automati-
cally upon publication by e-mail. For further information, please contact: 

Private Equity Holding AG 
Gotthardstrasse 28 
CH-6304 Zug 
Phone +41 41 726 79 80 
Fax +41 41 726 79 81 
info@peh.ch 

The section Information for Investors includes information on upcoming events and publications.
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Compensation report
The compensation report for the financial year 2014/2015 contains information about the compensation system, procedures 
for determining compensation, and the compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and the Delegate of the 
Board of Directors of Private Equity Holding AG (“PEH” or the “Company”). 

The content and scope of the information provided is based on the Articles of Association of PEH, the transparency re-
quirements set out in Articles 13-16 of the Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Listed Companies (VegüV) 
and Article 663bbis of the Swiss Code of Obligations, the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Information relating to Corporate 
Governance and the principles of the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance drawn up by Economiesuisse.

1.	Governance
On February 7, 2014, the Board of Directors of PEH established a Compensation Committee consisting of Dr. Hans Christoph 
Tanner (Chairperson), Bernhard Schürmann and Martin Eberhard. The members of the compensation committee were indi-
vidually elected at the 2014 Annual General Meeting. The members of the Committee elected Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner as 
Chairperson of the Committee. 

The compensation committee supports the Board of Directors in the determination and implementation of the guidelines and 
rules for the Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors and the Delegate of the Board and prepares all board 
matters referring to Compensation. In particular, the Committee approves the compensation of the individual members of the 
Board (including the Chairman) and the Delegate of the Board.

The Committee meets upon invitation of the Chairperson of the Compensation Committee or at the request of another member 
of the Compensation Committee, as frequently as necessary.

Dr. Hans Baumgartner is Chairman of the Board of Directors and also Delegate of the Board of Directors with overall respon-
sibility for the day-to-day management of the Company. See also section 3.5.1 of the Corporate Governance report.

2.	Procedures for determining compensation
The compensation awarded to the members of the Board of Directors is determined in accordance with the scope of activi-
ties and the responsibility and functions of the individual members and based on sector and market comparisons. 

3.	Compensation policy
Compensation of the Board of Directors of the Company is effected in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of 
Association, in particular Art. 26. Compensation is fixed and does not contain any variable components dependent on the 
financial performance of the Company; further, the Company does not grant credits or loans to the Directors. While the Board 
of Directors is compensated in cash for all its duties, it may elect to be fully or partially paid in shares of the Company. In this 
case, shares are allotted at market price replacing the respective cash compensation. The Board of Directors decides on the 
timing of allotment, and may set lock-up periods for such shares.  

The Compensation Committee determined that the members of the Board of Directors be compensated as follows for the 
Financial Year 2014/2015 (pro-rata when a mandate is not executed for a full year):

Compensation CHF

Chairman 75,000

Member 50,000

Delegate (in addition to Chairman’s/Member’s compensation) 75,000

The compensation is paid in two semi-annual instalments. The employer’s share of the AHV/ALV contribution is borne by the 
Company.

Travel and other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses related to the attendance of Board meetings are covered by the Com-
pany. Directors may furthermore be paid all other expenses properly incurred by them in connection with the business of 
the Company.
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3.1 Compensation for the financial years 2014/2015 and 2013/2014 (Article 14 VegüV) 

The following tables show the remuneration for the members of the Board of Directors in the financial years 2014/2015 and 
2013/2014. In addition, the Company paid a Directors & Officers liability insurance fee of CHF 53,421 (2013/2014: CHF 55,007). 
Travel expenses amounted to CHF 4,290 (2013/2014: CHF 1,987).

The Board of Directors and the Delegate’s compensation are defined and paid out in CHF:

Compensation for financial year 2014/2015

As of 31 March 2015 Base Compensation 
(Cash)  

CHF

Base Compensation 
(Shares)  

CHF

Social security 
payments  

CHF

Total  
compensation  

CHF

Dr. Hans Baumgartner,  
Chairman & Delegate of the Board of Directors 75,000 75,000 9,232 159,232

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner,  
Chairman of the Compensation Committee 25,000 25,000 3,126 53,126

Martin Eberhard,  
Member of the Compensation Committee 25,000 25,000 3,126 53,126

Bernhard Schürmann,  
Member of the Compensation Committee 25,000 25,000 1,710 51,710

Paul Garnett, Member (from July, 4, 2014) 37,500 — — 37,500

Total	 187,500 150,000 17,194 354,694

Compensation for financial year 2013/2014

As of 31 March 2014 Base Compensation 
(Cash)  

CHF

Base Compensation 
(Shares)  

CHF

Social security 
payments  

CHF

Total  
compensation  

CHF

Dr. Hans Baumgartner,  
Chairman & Delegate of the Board of Directors 46,875 46,875 5,860 99,610

Dr. Hans Christoph Tanner,  
Chairman of the Compensation Committee 25,000 25,000 3,126 53,126

Martin Eberhard,  
Member of the Compensation Committee — 50,000 3,126 53,126

Bernhard Schürmann,  
Member of the Compensation Committee 25,000 25,000 1,710 51,710

Arnaud Studer, Member (until July 4, 2013) 18,750 18,750 — 37,500

Total	 115,625 165,625 13,822 295,072

3.2 Loans and credits to Board Members and the Management (Article 15 VegüV)

For the financial year 2014/2015, no loans or credits by the Company or its subsidiaries have been granted to members of the 
Board of Directors (2013/2014: None).

3.3 Compensation, loans and credits to related parties (Article 16 VegüV)

For the financial year 2014/2015, no further compensation, loans or credits by the Company or its subsidiaries have been 
granted to members of the Board of Directors (2013/2014: None).

3.4 Compensation to former Members of the Board of Directors or the Management

For the financial year 2014/2015, no compensation was paid to former members of governing bodies (2013/2014: None).
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Compensation Report
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Information for Investors
The registered shares of Private Equity Holding AG are traded on SIX Swiss Exchange since January 18, 1999.

Stock exchange listing

Telekurs ticker symbol PEHN

Swiss security no. 608 992

ISIN code CH 000 608 9921

German security no. 906 781

 

Share data

 31.03.15 31.03.14 

Number of registered shares 3,100,000 3,425,000

Number of shares outstanding 2,990,100 3,195,280

Nominal value per share (CHF) 6.00 6.00

Comprehensive earnings per share (EUR) 7.41 5.99

 

Share price (per share)

 2014/2015
CHF

2013/2014
CHF

High (29.12.14/04.02.14) 66.25 60.00

Low (14.04.14/06.05.13) 56.50 52.80

Year-end (31.3.) 61.50 58.50

 

Market capitalisation (Basis: Number of shares outstanding at year-end)

 2014/2015
CHF

2013/2014
CHF

High (29.12.14/04.02.14) 198 192

Low (14.04.14/06.05.13) 169 169

Year-end (31.3.) 184 187

 

Corporate calendar 

  

July 3, 2015 Annual General Meeting

July 30, 2015 Quarterly Report as of June 30, 2015

November 3, 2015 Half Year Report as of September 30,2015

February 2016 9-Month Report as of December 31, 2015

April 2016 Preliminary NAV as of March 31, 2016

June 2016 Annual Report 2015/2016

  

NAV Publication as of the end of every month on www.peh.ch  
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Glossary of Terms

Capital calls Amount of capital called from the Group by a private equity fund. Each transaction is 
translated into EUR by using the foreign exchange rate as of the transaction date.

Capital contributed 
(invested)

Amount of capital contributed (invested) by the Group to direct or indirect investments 
since inception. Each transaction is translated into EUR by using the foreign exchange rate 
as of the transaction date.

Change in unrealised  
gain/(loss)

Temporary increase or decrease in value of a fund or direct investment. Equal to the 
difference between the fair value of an investment and the net acquisition cost.

Commitment Amount that the Group has committed to make available to a private equity fund or direct 
investment. In accordance with IFRS, this amount is not recorded in the balance sheet. 
The translation into EUR is made by using the foreign exchange rate as of the relevant 
reporting date.

Cost component of 
distribution  
(return of capital)

Portion of distribution which reflects the contributed capital.

Distribution Amount of net proceeds (including cost component, capital gains and interest/dividends) 
received by the Group. Each transaction is translated into EUR by using the foreign 
exchange rate as of the transaction date.

Fair value (FV) The price at which an investment would change hands between a willing buyer and a 
willing seller, neither being under a compulsion to buy or sell and both having a reasonable 
knowledge of relevant facts. Fair value of a private equity fund, i.e. fair value of assets 
minus liabilities. The translation into EUR is made by using the foreign exchange rate as of 
the relevant reporting date.

NAV Net asset value

Net acquisition cost (NAC) Capital contributed minus cost component of distributions.

Realised gain/(loss) Difference between total distribution and the cost component of distribution of a specific 
investment.

Unfunded commitment Amount that the Group has not yet contributed to a private equity fund. Difference between 
original commitment and contributed capital.

Vintage year Year in which a private equity fund has made its first capital call for investment purposes. 
In general, this coincides with the first year of a private equity fund’s term.



Annual Report
2014 / 2015Private Equity Holding AG

Gotthardstrasse 28
CH-6304 Zug
Phone +41 41 726 79 80
Fax +41 41 726 79 81

www.peh.ch

Private Equity Holding AG


